Public Document Pack

Agenda Reports & Other Papers
Presented to the
Meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board
on
Tuesday, 28 January 2020

1.

Agenda

1 - 100

Agenda

AGENDA for a meeting of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD at
the FOCOLARE CENTRE FOR UNITY, 69 PARKWAY, WELWYN GARDEN
CITY, AL8 6JG on TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 at 10:00AM
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD (21) - QUORUM 10
County Councillors (3)
T C Heritage, T R Hutchings, R M Roberts (Chairman)
Non County Councillor Members (18)
P Moodley, N Small, B Flowers, D Evans, Vacancy, Vacancy, Vacancy, NHS
Providers & NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups,
J Coles, Director of Children’s Services,
I MacBeath, Director of Adult Care Services,
J McManus, Director of Public Health,
S Palmer, Healthwatch Hertfordshire,
M Stears-Handscomb, T Kingsbury, District Council Representatives,
N Carver, NHS Provider Representative,
D Lloyd, Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner
R Cassidy, Hertfordshire Chief Executives Coordinating Group
P Burstow, Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability & Transformation
Partnership
Vacancy, Voluntary Sector
Observer
T Cahill, NHS Provider Representative.
AGENDA
Meetings of the Board are open to the public (this includes the press) and attendance
is welcomed. However, there may be occasions when the public are excluded from
the meeting for particular items of business. Any such items are taken at the end of
the public part of the meeting and are listed under “Part II (‘closed’) agenda”.
At a meeting of the Board any member of the public who is a Hertfordshire
resident or a registered local government elector of Hertfordshire may put a

Agenda Pack Page 1

1

question to the Board about any matter over which the Board has power or which
directly affects the health and wellbeing of the population. Written notice, including
the text of the proposed question, must be given to the County Council’s Chief
Legal Officer at least 5 clear days before the meeting.
Members are reminded that all equalities implications and equalities
impact assessments undertaken in relation to any matter on this agenda
must be rigorously considered prior to any decision being reached on that
matter.
Members are reminded that:
(1)
if they consider that they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any
matter to be considered at the meeting they must declare that interest and
must not participate in or vote on that matter unless a dispensation has
been granted by the Standards Committee;
(2)
if they consider that they have a Declarable Interest (as defined in
paragraph 5.3 of the Code of Conduct for Members) in any matter to be
considered at the meeting they must declare the existence and nature of that
interest. If a member has a Declarable Interest they should consider whether
they should participate in consideration and vote on the matter.
CHAIRMAN’S ANNOUNCEMENTS
PART I (PUBLIC) AGENDA
1.

MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board on 8 October 2019.

2.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
None received

3.

HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL
REPORT 2018/19
Report of Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board

4.

CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH (CAMHS) UPDATE
Report of the Director of Children’s Services & Interim Chief Executive,
Herts Valleys CCG

5.

UPDATE ON THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX
SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PARTNERSHIP
2

Agenda Pack Page 2

Report of the Director of Adult Care Services & STP Co-Lead
6.

BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE Q3 2019/2020
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services

7.

UPDATE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING
STRATEGY 2020 – 2023
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services

8.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEMBERSHIP UPDATE (verbal
update)
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services

9.

OTHER URGENT BUSINESS
Such other Part I (public) business which the Chairman agrees is of
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

PART II ('CLOSED') AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
There are no items of Part II (‘closed’) business on this agenda. If items are
notified the Chairman will move:
“That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph … of
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.”
If you require further information about this agenda please contact Elaine Manzi,
Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services, on 01992 588062, or email
elaine.manzi@hertfordshire.gov.uk. Agenda documents are also available on the
internet at https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx
QUENTIN BAKER
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

3

Agenda Pack Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Minutes

To: All Members of the Health &
Wellbeing Board

From:
Legal, Democratic & Statutory Services
Ask for: Elaine Manzi
Ext:
28062

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 8 OCTOBER 2019
MINUTES
ATTENDANCE
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
P Burstow, Independent Chair, Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability & Transformation
Partnership
J Coles, Director of Children’s Services
T Heritage, County Councillor
T Hutchings, County Councillor
T Kingsbury, District Council Representative
D Lloyd, Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner
I MacBeath, Director of Adult Care Services
J McManus, Director of Public Health
K Magson, Clinical Commissioning Group Representative
P Moodley, Clinical Commissioning Group Representative
S Palmer, Healthwatch Hertfordshire
R Roberts, County Councillor (Chairman)
PART I (‘OPEN’) BUSINESS
ACTION
1.

MINUTES

1.1

The minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting held on
20 June 2019 were confirmed as a correct record of the meeting and
signed by the Chairman.

2.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS

2.1

There were no public questions.

3.

UPDATE FROM THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX
SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PARTNERSHIP (STP)
(HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE)

Agenda Pack Page 5

1

Officer Contact: Dennis Carlton STP Head of Programme
Management Office (PMO)
3.1

Prior to discussion, Members received a presentation from Iain
Macbeath, Director of Adult Care Services. This can be found at
Appendix 1 of the published report.

3.2

A Board Member comment that the presentation did not detail explicit
reference to children and young people was noted. Assurance was
received that children and young people were one of the key focuses
of the STP through the Children’s and Maternity Workstream.

3.3

The Board discussed the future governance of the STP, and
considered how members of the public could be involved in the
process of selecting the leadership board of the STP.

3.4

It was noted that there is an STP engagement event scheduled for 14
October 2019 where this would be discussed in more detail.

3.5

Kathryn Magson, Chief Executive of Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group (HVCCG) advised that as part of the work to
create Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP’s), HVCCG had been
consulting with the Leaders of the District and Borough Councils in
the west of Hertfordshire to establish how they wanted to be involved
in the process. It was also suggested that the Herts Healthy Hubs
would be practical places to promote public involvement.

3.6

In response to a Board Member concern about the validity and
practicality of creating another decision making Board, it was noted
that the Health & Wellbeing Board’s mandate was to have overall
oversight of the work of the STP. A Board Member comment that one
of the challenges facing the STP was to fully address the issue of
inequality was noted.

3.7

A Board Member comment highlighting the risk to the STP with the
potential change in senior personnel, including the imminent
departure of Kathryn Magson, Chief Executive of HVCCG was noted.

3.8

CONCLUSION:
The Board noted and commented on the report and discussed
matters arising from its contents.

4.

HERTFORDSHIRE’S BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2019/20
Officer Contact: Edward Knowles Assistant Director, Health
Integration (Herts Valleys) Tel: 01992 555459

4.1

Board Members received the Hertfordshire’s Better Care Fund Plan
2

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 6

2019/20 narrative for review and approval.
4.2

Board Members were pleased to note the decrease in delayed
transfers of care from hospital settings and the fact that Hertfordshire
were one of the few authorities in the country able to identify
preventative social care services.

4.3

Further to Board Member question, it was noted that collaboration
with housing sector was a key part of the shared Better Care Fund
action plan. Board Members acknowledged the need for strengthened
collaboration with housing investors as well as providers.

4.4

A Board Member concern regarding the lack of join up between
housing providers and mental health professionals was noted.

4.5

CONCLUSION:
The Board noted and gave their approval for the Better Care Fund
2019/20.

5.

HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (HSAB)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
Officer Contact: Mary Moroney, Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults
Board Business Manager, (Tel: 01992 556603)

5.1

The Board received the Hertfordshire Safeguarding (HSAB) Annual
Report for 2018/19 outlining the effectiveness of safeguarding in the
local area.

5.2

Board Members were pleased to note the strengthening of
collaborative work between the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults
Board and the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board.

5.3

In response to a Board Member challenge, it was acknowledged that
the report had not highlighted the work being undertaken to support
victims of Domestic Abuse and the issue of Violence Against Women
and Girls. It was noted that there had been a rise in safeguarding
concerns against vulnerable adults during 2018/19. It was agreed that
this would be considered for inclusion in the 2019/20 report.

5.4

Tim Hutchings, Executive Member for Public Health and Prevention
stated that he had found the report a helpful tool to identify target
areas for future Public Health work and policy focus.

5.5

It was noted that the HSAB had identified prevention as being one of
their priorities for the forthcoming year, and had included the
outcomes of safeguarding adult reviews in their considerations when
developing prevention strategies.

Liz Hanlon

3
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 7

5.6

6.

CONCLUSION:
The Board provided feedback and comment on the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2019/20.
ANNUAL HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD
REPORT
Officer Contact: Jenny Coles- Director of Children’s Services

6.1

Jenny Coles, Director of Children’s Services provided a verbal update
to the Board.

6.2

The Board were interested to learn that further to statutory
government guidance, published in 2018, Safeguarding Children
Boards were required to review their arrangements, and change to
Safeguarding Partners.

6.3

Further to a review in Hertfordshire, this resulted in the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) becoming the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Partnership (HSCP). The chairmanship
revolved annually between the partners, commencing with the
Director of Children’s Services.

6.4

The Board were advised that the former Independent Children’s
Safeguarding Board Chairman, Nicky Pace, was now an Independent
Scrutineer for the Partnership.

6.5

It was noted that the HSCP’s focus would include local safeguarding
practice reviews, scrutiny of frontline practice, and embedding
learning through a Learning Hub.

6.6

Board Members were advised that a detailed written report would be
presented to the next meeting of the Hertfordshire Health & Wellbeing
Board in December 2019.

6.7

CONCLUSION:
The Board noted the verbal update regarding the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report for 2018/19.

7.

TACKLING LONELINESS IN HERTFORDSHIRE ACTION PLAN

Jenny
Coles

Officer Contact: Chantal Lommel - Head of Service - Hertfordshire
Adult & Family Learning Service (HAFLS) (Tel: 01992 588719)
7.1

Members received a report updating the progress made in developing
a Hertfordshire response to tackling loneliness further to feedback
received from the Health and Wellbeing Board at its last meeting on
4

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 8

20 June 2019.

7.2

Prior to discussion and debate, Members received a presentation
from Chantal Lommel – Head of Service- Hertfordshire Adult & Family
Learning Service (HAFLS). This can be found at Appendix 1 of the
report.

7.3

Board Members broadly endorsed the updated workplan, but some
concern was expressed regarding the length timescales outlined for
achieving the objectives identified, and it was requested that these
should be shortened, given the level of concern surrounding the
impact of loneliness within the county.

7.4

Assurance was received that work and strategies were already taking
place to achieve the objectives outlined within the report, and the aim
was to build upon these to create a joined up approach to strengthen
outcomes for the public. Examples given were; social prescribing;
Community Navigators; Healthy Hubs, Health Walks, Hertfordshire
Adult & Family Learning Service (HAFLS). A Board Member
suggestion that Member Locality Budgets could be used towards
creating projects was noted.

7.5

CONCLUSION:
The Health & Wellbeing Board:
-

Agreed to the action plan which had been developed in
accordance with the Board’s recommendations made on 20
June 2019;

-

Commented on the role its constituent organisations could play
in driving the agenda forward.

8.

ANY OTHER URGENT PART I BUSINESS

8.1

There was no other urgent Part I business.

QUENTIN BAKER
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

CHAIRMAN

5
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

3
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 AT 10.00AM
HERTFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL
REPORT 2018/19
Report of Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Author: Caroline Aitken (Mary Moroney)

Tel: 01992 556603

Presenter: Nicky Pace Former HSCB Independent Chair
1.
1.1

Purpose of report
In accordance with Working Together (2015) The Chair of the Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) must publish an annual report on
the effectiveness of child safeguarding and promoting the welfare of
children in the local area.

2.

Summary

2.1

The annual report highlights the local background and context for
safeguarding children in Hertfordshire, it provides some key data
behind this, it explains the structure and governance arrangements of
the Board, it provides updates of the work undertaken by the subgroups, as well as the Boards priorities.
The report contains the Business plan which further highlights progress
against the priorities.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

For the Board to provide comment and feedback on the report

Agenda Pack Page 11

1

Report signed off by
Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report
Needs assessment (activity taken)

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
Board
Jenny Coles/Cllr Heritage
Starting Well, developing well, living well.

Consultation/public involvement (activity taken or planned)
The Annual Report is published on the HSCB website.
Equality and diversity implications
The Board priorities and actions against these recognise the vulnerability and specific
needs of certain groups; these include children with disabilities and special
educational needs, children at risk of exploitation, children at risk of radicalisation,
children who self-harm and children at risk as a result of gang activity. In addition, the
priorities seek to support children at risk of neglect due to specific parental needs. In
recognising the changing demographic in Hertfordshire, the Board recognises the
specific needs of children and families from the Traveller community and other ethnic
groups. It finally carefully considers issues in relation to violence towards women and
girls.
Acronyms or terms used. eg:
HSCB
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
HSCP
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership

Agenda Pack Page 12

2

ANNUAL REPORT
2018-2019

Agenda Pack Page 13

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 14

Hertfordshire in
Numbers

Contents
Foreword: Nicky Pace - Former Chair of Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Board
3

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board Priorities
2018-2019
28

Local Background and Context
for Safeguarding Children in Hertfordshire

5

Statutory Functions

Hertfordshire in Numbers

7

HSCB Structure and Governance
(April 2018-January 2019)

9

Learning and Improvement

36

36

Allegations against Staff

40

Private Fostering

39
42

HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child Safeguarding Arrangements
for Hertfordshire

11

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Budget 2018-2019

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership
Structure

13

Appendix 1 – Members of the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Board Partnership

43

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19

17

44

Audit Subgroup

17

Appendix 2 - Attendance at Strategic Board
meetings 2018-19

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Case Review Group

19

Appendix 3 - Training Course 2018-19 Attendance

45

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Child Death Overview Panel

20

Essential Information

47

District Safeguarding Group

21

Improving Outcomes Group

22

Allegations against
Staff

Learning and Development Group

23

Private Fostering

Sub Group Chairs

24

Performance Subgroup

25

Policy and Procedure Group

26

Strategic Safeguarding Adolescent Group

27

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Statutory Functions

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

2

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Foreword: Nicky Pace – Former Chair of
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

As the previous Independent Chair of the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) I am pleased to
present the Annual Report for the period April 2018 to
March 2019. This will be my last Annual report as the
Independent Chair as I have moved to a new role as
Independent Scrutineer under the new multi-agency
safeguarding arrangements and the new Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Partnership (HSCP). There will
continue to be a requirement to publish an annual report
and I will continue to contribute in this new role.

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 15

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) were
established with the purpose of ensuring that agencies
keep local children and young people safe and that where
they have intervened, they have made a positive difference
in children’s lives. The HSCB has a really important role
in coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of what
is done by each and every person involved in protecting
children and it carries statutory responsibilities for
safeguarding children in Hertfordshire. It is made up of
senior managers within organisations in Hertfordshire
who hold responsibility for safeguarding children in their
agencies, such as children’s social care, police, health,
schools and other services including voluntary bodies.
The HSCB monitors how they all work together to provide
services for children and ensure children are protected.
The last year has seen the development of the new
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements which will
replace LSCBs. The Partnership Plan for Hertfordshire
3

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 16

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

was published at the end of January 2019 and the new
arrangements were in place by April 2019. There has
been careful planning and consultation over the last
year and a half to develop this plan. Where possible the
plan focusses on reducing duplication, joining up with
other partnership groups as much as possible, with a
real focus on making a difference to front line practice to
safeguard children and builds on what we know works
well. We were lucky to be part of the Government’s Early
Adopter scheme for the new arrangements giving us the
opportunity to test out and share learning with
other areas.
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Plan
A new partnership has been created between
Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Constabulary,
NHS East and North Hertfordshire and the Herts Valley
Clinical Commissioning Groups. This new partnership is
firmly built on strong collaborative working relationships
and with shared belief and aspirations for children and
young people in Hertfordshire. The Partnership is clear
that children are at the heart of everything we do and are
committed to listening to and involving children, young
people and their families. The partners are committed
to building collaborative partnerships, learning from
each other and promoting challenging and supportive
conversations that focus on the experience of the child.
The Partnership is clear that it needs to be outcome
focused, building on what works well and ensuring that
services make a difference to the lives of children, young
people and their families in Hertfordshire.

closely monitored and reviewed. It is recognised that
the next year will be challenging for all agencies, with
considerable change within their own organisations and
we will need to ensure the focus and delivery of services
to vulnerable children, young people and families is not
adversely affected.
Lastly, I would like to thank the Board staff, for their
continued support in the smooth functioning and
promotion of the HSCB. I would also like to thank
members of the Board, from across the partnership of
our voluntary, community and statutory services and
all the frontline practitioners and managers for their
commitment, hard work and effort in keeping children
and young people safer in Hertfordshire.

Nicky Pace
Former HSCB Independent Chair

It is recognised that the challenge over the next year
will be to ensure that replacing the HSCB with the new
arrangements is done carefully and the transition is
4

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 17

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Local background and context for safeguarding children
in Hertfordshire
Ashwell

Hertfordshire is located just to
the north of London, covering an
area of 634 square miles, with a
population of around 1.18m, making
Hertfordshire one of the most
densely populated shire counties
in England.
There are ten district/borough
council areas in the county. Watford
and Stevenage are relatively
densely populated wholly urban
districts. East Hertfordshire and
North Hertfordshire, outside their
main urban towns, have large
areas of rural countryside. The
remaining districts of Broxbourne,
Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans,
Three Rivers and Welwyn Hatfield
are more mixed. The ‘Index of
Multiple Deprivation’ shows that
Hertfordshire is consistently one of
the least deprived areas of England;
however, the general prosperity
of the county is not evenly spread,
and there are a number of pockets
of deprivation and considerable
variation across the county. All ten
local authorities have pockets of
considerable deprivation within

Royston

Baldock

Hitchin

Buntingford
Braughing
Stevenage

Standon
Bishop’s Stortford

Harpenden

Welwyn

Wheathampstead
Redbourn

Tring
Cow Roast

Hatfield

Berkhamsted

Sawbridgeworth

Ware
Hertford

Standstead Abbots

Hoddesdon

Hemel Hempstead
Cheshunt

Abbots Wood
Watford

Potters Bar

Rickmansworth

their boundaries and a number of our communities suffer from a range of
elements of socio‐economic deprivation, including child poverty, overcrowding
and dependence on welfare benefits. Examples of local authority wards
experiencing such deprivation are Borehamwood, Cowley Hill, Northwick,
Bedwell, Oughton, Meriden, and Waltham Cross.
There are 53 traveller sites in Hertfordshire: 11 County Council sites, 35 private
sites with permission and 3 private sites without permission, the remaining
4 are showman’s grounds.
5

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 18

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

About Hertfordshire
Approximately
271,000 children
and young people
under the age of 18
live in Hertfordshire.
This is 23% of the
total population
in the area. The
Office of National
Statistics predicts an
overall increase in
Hertfordshire’s 0-19
population of 6.8%
between 2019 and
2028. The increases
in Hertfordshire
are particularly
pronounced in the
10-14 age group
(8.5% growth
projected) and 15-19
age group (23.7%
growth projected)
The majority of
people living in
Hertfordshire
are white British.
There are some
areas, particularly
in Watford, where
the proportion of

About Hertfordshire

Population

Hertfordshire population

Hertfordshire population growth
10-14 year olds

271,000
Under 18
population

6.8%

8.5%

15-19 year olds

Hertfordshire
population 1.18
million

Deprivation

Approximately 11% of
children in Hertfordshire
are in low income
families

0%

8.4% of children in Hertfordshire nursery and
primary schools are entitled to and claiming free
school meals (the national average is 14.2%)

5%

10%

The largest minority ethnic
groups of children and young
people in the area are Asian and
mixed ethnic groups

15%

20%

25%

Diversity

Children and young people
from minority ethnic groups
(excluding white other)
account for 17% of all
children living in Hertfordshire

17.1% of children and young people in Hertfordshire
primary schools with English as an additional language
(the national average 21.2%)

6.9% of children in Hertfordshire secondary
schools are entitled to and claiming free school
meals (the national average is 13.3%)

Children and young people from minority
ethnic groups (excluding white other)
account for 22% of all children living in
the country (2011 census)

12.2% of children and young people in Hertfordshire
secondary schools with English as an additional language
(the national average 16.6%)

533 schools in Hertfordshire

Education
400

395

300
200

2

10

UTCs

Free Schools

Academies

2% of pupils in Hertfordshire
schools have an Education,
Health and Care (EHC) Plan
or Statement (the national
average is 2.8%)

88.5% of Hertfordshire

126

100
0

23.7%

population growth
in under 19s
between 2019 and
2028 compared
with 4.3% nationally

Maintained

schools rated good
or outstanding by
Ofsted (28/02/2019)

600

400

417

200
83

0

Primary*

*includes nurseries, first schools, infant schools

Secondary**

25

8

Special

ESC

** includes middle schools, all through schools

people from black or minority ethnic backgrounds is much higher than it is elsewhere in the
county. Children from minority ethnic groups account for 17% of all children living in the area,
compared with 22% in the country as a whole; Asian and mixed ethnicity are the most comment
minority groups. Hertfordshire has the third largest traveller population in the Eastern Region.
Hertfordshire performs better than the national average in the majority of measures in the
Public Health Profile. For example – infant mortality, childhood obesity, under 18 conceptions
and children living in poverty are all significantly better than the National Average.
6

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 19

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Hertfordshire in Numbers
The following information and charts provide data on key areas and make comparisons with
the 2017-18 data
Number of Social Care Referrals

Number of Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan

A referral is defined as ‘a request for services to be
provided by local authority children’s social care’ via
the assessment process outlined in the Working
Together guidance.

The number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan
(CPP) was 556. This is 4% higher than the same time last
year (533). It is however still one of the lowest rates per
10,000 in the country.

Referrals to social care have decreased by 3.1% in 201819. This is a rate of 224 per 10,000 of (0-18 population).
The number of referrals accepted into children’s social
care has been consistently reducing for the last five years
as Hertfordshire’s early help offer has grown.
More families are now supported through early intervention
preventing the need for escalation to statutory services.
During 2018/19 over 3,000 children and young people were
supported through a Families First Assessment.

In March 2019, 256 (46%) of those subject to a CPP had
primary category of emotional abuse: 244 (43.8%) had
a category of neglect, 36 (6.5%) were physical abuse,
and 21 (3.8%) were sexual abuse. There has been a 9.4
percentage point increase in the proportion of children
with a primary category of emotional abuse between
2018 and 2019 and a corresponding decrease of 10.2
percentage points in those with a category of neglect.
There has also been some increase in the physical abuse
category although numbers are small in comparison.

Number of Section 47 Investigations
During 2018/19 there were a total of 1512 Section 47
investigations initiated, this is a 7.5% reduction on 1634
during 2017/18. This equated to 55.8 per 10,000 (018 population) compared with 151.7 for our statistical
neighbours and 168.3 for England.

Number of Domestic Abuse Incidents with a Child Present
In 2018-19, 5650 children were present during a domestic
abuse incident. Of these, 3501 were witnesses to the
incident. In 2017-18 the total number was 5716 with
3344 witnesses.

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

7

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire in Numbers
Child Protection Plans by Category of Abuse
as at 31 March 2019
60.0%

HSCB Structure
and Governance

30.0%

Agenda Pack Page 20

40.0%

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

54%
46%

50.0%

Hertfordshire in
Numbers

800

43.8%

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

672

36.6%

400

323

20.0%
10.0%

4.6%

6.5%

4.8% 3.8%

0
2012

2013

231
2014

2018

Physical Abuse

2015

316

238
2016

232

155
2017

244
256

191
2018

2019

2020

Year

0.0%
Neglects

442

391
203

200

Emotional Abuse

632

600

Neglect

Sexual Abuse

Emotional Abuse

2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Child Protection Plans with Category of
Neglect and Emotional Abuse

Domestic Abuse
7000
6000

5716

5650

5000
4000

3344

3501

3000
2000
1000
0
Number of incidents

Incidents where witnessed by a child
2017-18

2018-19

8

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 21

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

HSCB Current Structure and Governance
The functions of the Board are set out in primary
legislation (sections 14 and 14(a) of the Children Act
2004) and statutory regulations (Local Safeguarding
Children Regulations 2006). The work of the Board
during the period covered in this report was governed by
the statutory guidance in Working Together to Safeguard
Children issued in March 2015.
Along with Hertfordshire, all local authorities are legally
obliged to have a children’s safeguarding board which has
two statutory objectives and functions:
“(a) Coordinate what is done by each person or
body represented on the Board for the purposes of
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the
area; and
(b) Ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such
person or body for those purposes.”
The HSCB seeks to achieve these functions by:
• monitoring the effectiveness of what is done to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children
• establishing effective communication and information
sharing across agencies undertaking reviews of
individual cases, including ‘Serious Case Reviews’
collecting and analysing information about child
deaths, and agreeing procedures to ensure a coordinated response to unexpected child deaths
• developing policies and procedures for safeguarding
and promoting the welfare of children evaluating
the effectiveness of agencies working together and
advising on ways to improve these crucial relationships
• developing, coordinating and delivering relevant multiagency training.

All partner agencies in Hertfordshire show their
commitment to ensuring the effective operation of the
HSCB through a formal compact document which sets
out the relationship between partner agencies and HSCB.
The Strategic Board meets four times during the year
and has a membership made up of directors and senior
representatives from all the statutory partners and others
concerned with safeguarding children. In addition the
Board held it’s annual ’Joint Board’ meeting in March 2018
with members of the Adults Safeguarding Board.
A Board development day was held in November 2017
when the Board reviewed its progress and agreed the
aims and objectives for the coming year. The Board has
developed a significant structure of sub-groups to achieve
its work.
As referred to in Nicky Pace’s foreword, the coming year
will see changes to the Board as a result of Working
Together 2018. There will also be changes to the Serious
Case Review (SCR) and Child Death Overview Panel
(CDOP). Partners will continue to work together within
our current arrangements whilst revised final legislation
is awaited and future plans formalised.
The Board looks forward to more joint up working with
Adults and other boards under the new arrangements.
Membership
The key partners show considerable commitment to
safeguarding by the level of representation at Strategic
Board meetings. Across the sub-groups the statutory
safeguarding partners are also well represented by
managers and assistant directors. Please see Appendix 1
for a list of partnership members.
9

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Designated Health
Professionals Meeting

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Head Teachers Reference
Group

HSCB Strategic Board

Agenda Pack Page 22

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
Executive Group

HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Case
Review

Audit

Child Death
Overview
Panel

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Improving
Outcomes

Learning and
Development

Performance

Policy and
Procedure

Strategic
Safeguarding
Adolescent

Sub-groups

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

District Safeguarding Group

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Broxbourne and
East Herts

St Albans and Dacorum

North Herts and
Stevenage

Watford and Three
Rivers

Welwyn Hatfield
and Hertsmere

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Local Multi-agency Safeguarding Forums
10

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 23

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

New child safeguarding arrangements for Hertfordshire
On 31st January 2019 the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board transitioned to the new arrangements
and is now the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children
Partnership (HSCP). The published plan can be found
from the link below.
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Plan
The Wood Review 2015 and the subsequent government
guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’
required all local areas to review their safeguarding
arrangements.
Hertfordshire became an Early Adopter of the guidance
and undertook a systematic review of the existing Board
during summer 2018.
The initial principles and considerations adopted when
conducting the review were to:
• Involve all partner agencies, not just the three
statutory partners
• Learn from experience and evidence and what
works well
• Ensure workable strategic and operational
arrangements – fit form to function
• Aim to reduce duplication across partnerships
• Champion the interests and rights of children and
young people
• Ensure accountable oversight and feedback on
performance and outcomes
• Scrutinise and improve practice
• Ensure partnerships are proportionate, efficient,
effective and adequately resourced

The review process itself included a number of
critical stages:
1. A
 n initial meeting with key senior leaders in
November 2017.
2. S
 etting up a task and finish group with membership
from a range of stakeholders and agreement of terms
of reference. This group then agreed the principles and
scope of the review.
3. A
 decision was made to apply to be an Early Adopter
of the new arrangements, requiring Hertfordshire to
implement its new partnership early and share learning
with other local areas.
4. A
 substantial and systematic review of partnership
structures was conducted by the task and finish group.
This was completed by June 2018.
5. T
 he terms of reference and membership of the new
groups forming the structure were written during
September and October 2018, in consultation with key
stakeholders.
6. T
 wo development workshops were held in November
and December 2018 involving relevant agencies and
with input from external experts and facilitators. These
workshops finalised the new arrangements and allowed
partners to jointly discuss and agree the approach to
independent scrutiny and the principles and values of
the new Partnership. Work was also completed with
school leaders about future arrangements to ensure
schools were fully engaged in the new safeguarding
processes and partnership.
7. R
 egular communication to partner agencies took place
throughout, including a newsletter to stakeholders
providing detail on the new structures.
11

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 24

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

New child safeguarding arrangements for Hertfordshire
The previous Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
has changed its name to the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Partnership.
Safeguarding partners in Hertfordshire continue to work
together in order to identify and respond to the needs of
children through the new Partnership.
The Partnership operates in line with the requirements
of the statutory guidance ‘Working Together to
Safeguard Children 2018’ and covers the geographical
area of Hertfordshire, as defined by the local authority
boundaries. The geographical footprint corresponds with
that of the East and North Herts CCG and Herts Valley
CCG footprint and the Hertfordshire Constabulary.
The safeguarding partners and other organisations and
agencies included in these arrangements continue to
fulﬁl their statutory duties to safeguard and promote the
welfare of children from Hertfordshire who live or are
placed outside of our local authority area within the
new arrangements.
The three local safeguarding partners jointly leading the
Partnership are:
• Hertfordshire County Council: represented by the
Director of Children’s Services

A focus of the new partnership is developing a culture
of learning. One of the ways in which this is achieved is
through the development of Learning Hubs. The Learning
Hub is an important two-way feedback loop between front
line practitioners and the Strategic Partnership Group,
ensuring learning on priority local safeguarding issues is
shared and acted on at all levels in a timely way.
Structure of the Partnership
The systematic review of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board’s structure described above, sought to
reduce duplication and improve integration with other
local partnerships. As a result of the review the number
of subgroups forming the Partnership has significantly
reduced, and new groups are strongly focussed on
improving practice and ensuring an emphasis on learning,
enabling a feedback loop across partner agencies and the
front line.
A Chairs group supports and coordinates the work of the
subgroups, providing a mechanism for the chairs of each
subgroup to meet regularly, receive reports, undertake
analysis, monitor plans and approve work completed.
This ensures that there is coordination and information
sharing between them and the work they oversee.

• Hertfordshire Constabulary: represented by the
Assistant Chief Constable for Local Policing
• The two local Clinical Commissioning Groups: East and
North Herts CCG and Herts Valley CCG: represented by
the Director of Nursing and Quality, East and
North Herts.

12

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Structure

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Executive Group

Stakeholders group

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 25

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Performance
& Audit

Local Child
Safeguarding
Practice Review
Panel

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Practice,
Policy &
Procedures

Strategic
Safeguarding
Adolescants
Group

Joint District
Safeguarding
Group

Sub-groups

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Joint
Learning &
Development

Multi-agency
Learning Hub

Task & Finish
Groups

Chairs
Group

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

13

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Structure

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

The three safeguarding partners meet bi-monthly as
part of the Executive Group to drive forward the work
of the Partnership, ensuring the vision and values are
upheld. This group develops, implements and monitors
the business plan and agrees priority actions against
core business and directs the Partnership’s subgroups
into delivery of the plan. Finally, this group will ensure
effective scrutiny arrangements are in place across
the Partnership.

Agenda Pack Page 26

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Executive Group

Stakeholders Group
The Stakeholders Group has a wide strategic membership
of other stakeholders and ‘relevant agencies’, including
schools, probation services, district councils, the Lead
Executive Member and health providers. Meeting three
times a year, themed around agreed local and national
safeguarding priorities and areas identified through data
and performance, this group provides a learning modelbased meeting that is focussed on outcomes.

Local Child Safeguarding Practice
Review Panel
This group oversees the review of serious child
safeguarding cases which raise issues of importance in
relation to Hertfordshire. The purpose of undertaking
child practice reviews is to identify any improvements that
should be made locally to safeguard children. The reviews
enable partners to identify and understand the reasons
and causes of strengths and areas for improvement in
local practice. The arrangements will include sharing
of good practice as well as assessment of situations
where there have been ‘near misses’ and will set out how
lessons learnt will be applied and monitored.
This group ensures clarity, high quality and consistency in
practice in carrying out case reviews and ensures that the
Partnership learns lessons that can improve the response
to children and families. All case reviews are carried
out to provide learning and development for individuals,
teams and organisations involved in safeguarding. The
subgroup will maintain this learning as its
primary focus.

Performance and Audit Group
The Partnership will use data intelligence and
audits to ensure the help being provided to children
in Hertfordshire is effective. To achieve this, the
Performance and Audit Group, are responsible for
analysing multi-agency safeguarding performance data
to inform the Executive and Stakeholders of relevant
trends and risk to performance. It conducts a series of
multi-agency audits per year that are informed by data
intelligence, partnership priorities and findings from
case reviews.

14

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 27

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Structure
Joint Learning and Development Group
Inter-agency training is another clear priority for
the safeguarding partners. This Joint Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children Partnership, Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adult Board and Domestic Abuse
Partnership Learning and Development Group, identify
multi-agency safeguarding learning needs that require
addressing to ensure partner agencies develop their
workforces to a high quality standard and are keeping
children safe.

Practice, Policy and Procedures Group
Hertfordshire has a range of effective inter-agency Child
Protection and Safeguarding Children Procedures.
This group regularly reviews these procedures to ensure
they remain fit for purpose and are updated to reflect
changing needs, government legislation, partnership
reviews and the findings of quality assurance exercises
and inspections.
The group also proactively challenges and supports
multi-agency working to improve outcomes for children
and families and will develop new strategies to support
multi-agency partnership working on specific issues
where needed.

all partner agencies can work to deliver collectively the
best protection for these children, through developing
contextualised safeguarding across the partnership,
sharing best practice, improving data and intelligence
collection and continuous monitoring of performance.
It also monitors the delivery of the strategic plan for
Serious Violence in areas involving children and
young people.

Joint District Safeguarding Group
The Partnership is committed to ensuring that services
to Children, Young People and Vulnerable Adults across
the district and borough councils in Hertfordshire are
provided in accordance with legislation and statutory
guidance. This group therefore provides district councils
with a link to the Partnership, advising of any challenges
faced by district councils in delivering their safeguarding
responsibilities and supporting the district safeguarding
representatives in reviewing, implementing and
monitoring all district and borough council protocols,
policies and procedures relating to safeguarding of all
vulnerable groups. It also acts as a consultative forum
for each council on the development of new policies
and procedures that might impact on safeguarding and
promoting the welfare of children.

Strategic Safeguarding Adolescents Group
There is a group that focusses on vulnerable young people
in Hertfordshire who are at risk of going missing, child
sexual exploitation, trafficking, gang affiliation and County
Lines. This group provides a local framework in which
15

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership Structure

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

The Hertfordshire Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) has
been set up by Child Death Review (CDR) Partners, East
and North Herts/Herts Valleys CCGs and Hertfordshire
County Council to review the deaths of children under
the requirements of the Children Act (2004), Working
Together to Safeguard Children (2018) and Child Death
Review Statutory and Operational Guidance (2018).

Agenda Pack Page 28

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Child Death Overview Panel
The purpose of the Hertfordshire CDOP is to undertake
an independent review of all child deaths (excluding those
babies who are stillborn, late foetal loss where a death
certificate has not been issued and planned terminations
of pregnancy carried out within the law) up to the age of
18 years, normally resident in Hertfordshire, irrespective
of the place of their death.

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

16

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 29

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Transition to the New Arrangements and
Audit Subgroup
Objectives for the year ahead

Outcomes
Completion of three multi-agency audits on:
HSCB smart survey was sent out
across multi-agencies to seek the
Female Genital
views of staff on the awareness of
Mutilation:
the pathway, how accessible it is
and how easy it is to use.
To analyse the quality of partner
Referrals to MASH:
referrals into Children’s Services.
Children subject
To understand why children
to a of significant
continue to be at risk within two
harm Child
years of having been removed from
Protection Plan for
a Child Protection plan
a second time:
		

Areas for Development
The area for development for the Audit Group is to ensure
consistent representation from all agencies. The lack
of attendance of all organisation representatives has
impacted negatively on the focus and flow of the group
as well as progressing both HSCB objectives and single
agency requested audit plans.

In the new arrangements, the Audit group is joint with the
Performance group to form the Performance and Audit
group, focusing on quality assurance and performance.
The plan for the newly formed group is to:
• Include membership from early help teams and
the analysis of early help data, as well as data from
safeguarding and specialist services
• Conduct a series of multi-agency audits per year,
informed by data intelligence, Board priorities and
findings from case reviews. It is expected that at least
two major ‘deep dive’ audits will be conducted per year,
in addition to smaller ‘dip dive’ audits which may be
multi or single agency depending on the identified need
• Develop and monitor actions plans resulting from
multi-agency audits or identified performance risks,
and ensure that actions are completed in a timely
manner (within six months)
• Identify whether practice has changed as a result
of completed audits and action plans, through
performance data review and re-auditing
where necessary
• Ensure that all relevant safeguarding partners are
included in multi-agency performance data analysis
and audits, including schools
• Receive, analyse and challenge relevant single agency
audit reports and performance reviews, and identify
any significant issues that need to be monitored and/or
raised to the Board.
17

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Audit Subgroup
Five multi-agency audits for 2019-20 have been agreed
which are:
Older children in need of help and protection, and
contextual safeguarding (including exploitation)

1) 

HSCB Structure
and Governance

Assessment of the multi-agency awareness and
use of HSCP Bruising Policy – Management of
2) 
Suspicious Bruises/Marks in Infants under 6
months for all frontline professionals

Agenda Pack Page 30

Hertfordshire in
Numbers

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

3) 

Prevention and Early Intervention, with a particular
emphasis on Neglect

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

4) 

Quality of staff safeguarding supervision and
appropriate management oversight of cases

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Exploration of the quality of multi-agency
functioning and information sharing related to
5)  Children in Need, with a particular emphasis on
those children who have had a previous Child
Protection Plan.

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Learning and recommendations from all multi-agency
audits will be progressed by the Practice, Policy and
Procedure Group.

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

18

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 31

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Case Review Group
Outcomes
The group considers referrals that agencies believe
may meet the criteria for a Serious Case Review (SCR),
or cases where there can be systemic learning. These
included the following cases:
• An infant and older sibling who had been physically
assaulted by mother’s partner, who had a long history
of domestic abuse with previous partners. This case
did not progress to a SCR; however, a recommendation
was made to the Domestic Abuse Partnership to review
aspects of the case

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

• Case of a young child who presented at hospital by
mother with significant injuries and was subject to a
Child in Need plan at the time of the incident

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

• Young baby who died, however, determination against
the SCR criteria could not be made until further results
are received

Statutory Functions

• Young person who died in a residential home. Joint
Children Services and Health Review has been
commissioned, which will be fed back to the now Local
Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

• A baby who died of non-accidental injury.

Appendix 1

Areas for Development

Appendix 2

An area for development for the group was the
implementation of the new requirements from Working
Together 2018 to undertake Serious Child Case Review.

Appendix 3

The issues were in relation to the criteria of notification,
defining which incidents meet the definition, shorter time
frames, decision about criteria for whether to carry out a
review and the way in which they will be conducted.

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
The group are overseeing the following SCRs:
Child J - An infant who died whilst the subject of a child
protection plan
Child K - A young man who took his own life and had
previously been the subject of a Child Protection Plan
Child L - A young child who presented at hospital by
mother with significant injuries. Child L has recovered
from his injuries and is doing well. Child L subject to a
Child in Need plan at the time of the incident.
Child N - A baby who died of non-accidental injury and
was subject to a Child in Need plan.
Learning and recommendations from all case reviews
will be progressed by the Practice, Policy and Procedures
Group. This will also support in strengthening the
dissemination of learning from case reviews among frontline practitioners.
A local procedure will be developed in response to the
changes in which serious cases are reported, reviewed
and learning progressed. A commissioning framework
will also be developed to ensure high quality independent
lead reviewers.

19

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 32

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Child Death Overview Panel
Outcomes
CDOP met six times in 2018-19 and all meetings were
well attended. There were 72 deaths notified between
April 2018 and 31st March 2019. Hertfordshire reviewed
43 cases and 60% of these were reviewed within 12
months of the child’s death.
In November 2018, the Rapid Response conference on
‘Children with Complex Health and Life Limiting Needs’
took place and was attended by 49 delegates.

Area for Development
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 replaces local
safeguarding children boards with new local safeguarding
partnerships arrangements. The HSCB has continued to
ensure that the review of each death of a child normally
resident in the Hertfordshire area was undertaken by the
established CDOP whilst preparing for the transition.

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
CDOP will continue to support the Safe Sleeping, Water
Safety and Car Safety Campaigns. Two further campaigns
will be developed on Children’s Sleepovers and Fire
Safety and Talking about Sex with people with Learning
Disabilities. CDOP will support the 4th Rapid Response
Annual Conference in November 2019. The theme is on
Teenage Suicide.
CDOP will commission the eCDOP system, a secure
web-based system to process, share and review CDOP
cases which also automatically notifies the National Child
Mortality Database.

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

20

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 33

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
District Safeguarding Group
Outcomes
A new chair for the group has been selected, who is a
Chief Executive from one of the district/borough councils.
The terms of reference have been reviewed to focus the
group and 6 key roles and responsibilities were refined to
include a two-way conversation for districts to feedback
into the board.
The group received feedback from each of the subgroups
for which there are representatives and briefings on:
• Early Help Data

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

• County Lines

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

• Hoarding Protocol

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
This group will provide district councils with a link to
the HSCP, advising of any challenges faced by district
councils in delivering their safeguarding responsibilities
and supporting the district safeguarding representatives
in reviewing, implementing and monitoring all district
and borough council protocols, policies and procedures
relating to safeguarding of all vulnerable groups.
The group will support the local Learning Hubs to ensure
that they target the needs of the local area.

• Working Together 2018
• Modern Slavery Partnership

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Area for Development
An area requirement development for the group is to
ensure attendance to represent all districts at each
meeting; the lack of attendance has been due to internal
capacity difficulties.

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

21

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 34

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Improving Outcomes Group
Outcomes
This group has continued to improve the inter-agency
working to safeguard vulnerable children. In 2018-19 the
focus of the group was in the review of the multi-agency
Neglect Strategy, pathways to address harmful sexual
behaviour, development of a multi-agency Supervision
Policy, review and launch of the Bruising protocol and the
working with the Traveller Community work stream has
made progress.

Area for Development
Challenges for the Improving Outcomes Group include the
throughput of the work and ensuring work takes place
between meetings.

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
In the new arrangements the Improving Outcomes Group
and Policy and Procedures Group have joined together.
The group will be responsible for:
• Reviewing the Hertfordshire Partnership Inter-agency
Child Protection and Safeguarding Children Procedures
and providing assurance to the HSCP that new multiagency policies and procedures are disseminated by
partner agencies for implementation
• Implementing work on the development of
significant policies and procedures as required by
the safeguarding partners including work arising
from government legislation and policy, serious case
reviews, partnership reviews, complaints and the
findings of quality assurance exercises and inspections
• Developing new strategies to support multi-agency
partnership working on specific issues through task
and finish groups
• Challenging and supporting multi-agency working to
improve outcomes for children and families.

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

22

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 35

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Learning and Development
Outcomes
A priority for this group was to increase in the amount
of face to face training opportunities, 2018-2019 saw
over 1400 staff attending training run by the Board.
New courses delivered during this year were: Difficult
Conversations, Safeguarding for Managers and
Child Protection Conference training. Both Difficult
Conversations and Safeguarding for Managers were
the first joint courses offered with the Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Adults Board.

Area for Development
An area for development for the Learning and
Development Subgroup is to ensure the availability
of practitioners with expertise on specialist topics to
contribute to the delivery of training, maintenance of
multi-agency training pool, cost effective venues for
training events and embedding of new electronic booking
learning system.

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
The HSCP has identified the following areas where joint
approaches will be beneficial to all practitioners:
• Learning Events (hubs): These have been developed
by the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership and the
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board will join with

these events over the coming year where the topics
are appropriate. The first event on Gangs and Knife
Crime supporting the Serious and Violent Crime Work
Stream took place in the final quarter of 2018-19. The
aim of these hubs is to gain insight from the feedback
from front line practitioners across Hertfordshire so
the partnerships can feed these into strategic planning.
The HSCP will run three Learning hubs each year, for
2019-20 with the following themes: Self Harm and
Suicide, Neglect and Transitional Safeguarding in
January 2020.
• Specialised termly ‘Twilight Sessions’ for schools’ staff
on key topics has been launched which has covered
topics on on-line safety, self-harm and suicide, and
neglect. Future topics include adverse childhood
experiences and extremism.
• Learning and Development sub-group (HSCP, HSAB
and Domestic Abuse Partnership): the group is now
operational and the work streams are now in place to
deliver key joined up events and learning opportunities
during 2019-20. As well as the Learning hubs, this
will include the development of a specific course on
exploitation, so that any cross-over in learning can be
shared throughout both partnerships.
• Learnings from Serious Case Reviews/Local Practice
Reviews, Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Domestic
Homicide reviews are being pulled together to produce
a coordinated approach to the dissemination of learning.
23

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Provided by Sub-group Chairs

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

• The HSCP will continue to offer face to face learning
on key topics and will look to develop new learning
opportunities using digital platforms.

Agenda Pack Page 36

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

• The HSCP will contribute to a joint conference for
housing professionals on safeguarding during 2019-20.

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

24

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Performance

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Outcomes

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 37

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

The HSCB performance indicators have been selected
and developed to underpin the business priorities that
the board has selected for the two year period. This year
on referrals, child protection levels, domestic abuse
incidents, missing children, hospital admissions, modern
slavery, contextual safeguarding and early help. Data
reports have also considered locations in Hertfordshire
and are planned to coincide with the various themes that
are part of each Boards’ agenda, which included joint
adult and children issues.

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
In the new arrangements, the Audit Group is joint
with the Performance Group to form the Performance
and Audit Group, focusing on quality assurance and
performance. This historically was one group and
combining them again would provide a more focused
opportunity to consider key areas and triangulation.
Audits would be better informed by data and a wider
understanding of emerging issues would be shared.

Boards’ agenda
Going forward into 2019-20 the performance subgroup
will also be involved in the further development of the
HSCB dashboard to incorporate new indicators to support
the business plan for the coming two years.

Area for Development
The performance management and quality assurance
function of the Board include taking action to ensure
outcomes are better than they would otherwise be.
Therefore, to know what action to take, performance
must be regularly and robustly monitored and
scrutinised. To know how to consistently monitor
performance, criteria must be agreed (aims, objectives,
targets and outcomes). To know how to assess
performance against criteria, there must be a method
which requires systematic action and coordination.

25

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 38

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire

Highlights of Sub-Group Work 2018-2019
Policy and Procedures
Outcomes
During 2018-19 the Policy and Procedures group has
met bimonthly and has maintained good multi-agency
representation. Over the course of the year the group has
considered 25 new policies/procedures and or revisions of
previous policies.
Notably some of the new policies that have been
adopted are:

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

• Bruising Protocol

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

• SCR/SAR/DHR Referral Process

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
In the new arrangements, the Improving Outcomes Group
which focuses on operational issues and the Policy and
Procedures subgroup will merge. The work of these two
subgroups often overlap. The newly formed Practice,
Policy & Procedures Group will commission activity
through task and finish groups on specific areas identified
from the Performance and Audit Group or from for
example national requirements.

• Supervision Strategy
• Pre-birth protocol

Area for Development
Challenges for this year have been to maintain the
momentum to avoid drift or unnecessary delay in
reviewing policies and procedures. Additionally, clarity
around the ownership can cause confusion as items go
between the Improving Outcomes Group and the Policy
and Procedures Group.

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

26

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 39

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Highlights of Subgroup Work 2018-19
Strategic Safeguarding Adolescent Group
Outcomes
The Strategic Safeguarding Adolescent Group (SSAG)
continues to achieve a high level of contribution and
commitment from partner agencies, with responsibility
for developing and leading priority areas in the work
programme owned and shared by group members. The
work programme is organised around the three themes of
Prevent, Protect and Pursue.
During 2018-19, the Strategic Safeguarding Adolescent
Group has continued provide a local framework in which
all partner agencies can work to deliver collectively the
best protection for missing children, those at risk of
exploitation including CSE and trafficking, modern slavery
and those at risk through gang affiliation and County
Lines, through sharing best practice, improving data
and intelligence collection and continuous monitoring of
performance.
This has been achieved through:

Private Fostering

• Development of Champions against Child Exploitation
network

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

• Roll out of ‘Breaking the Chain’, a play commissioned
to schools for children in years 7 & 8 throughout
Hertfordshire

Appendix 1

• Contribution to the development of the Serious Violent
Crime Strategy

Appendix 2
Appendix 3

• Parents conference
• Multi-agency toolkit
• Launch of anti-abuse curriculum guidance

Area for Development
The challenge of working with a broad range of data
across agencies has been in relation to receiving accurate
data, this has been due to changes in the multi-agency
data recording systems which has since been rectified.

Transition to the New Arrangements and
Objectives for the year ahead
A focus for the SSAG is the development and
implementation of the Serious Violence Crime Strategy
Action Plan. The SSAG also has delegated responsibility
for leading with the HSAB on the Learning Hub regarding
the topic of ‘Transitional Safeguarding’.

• Raising awareness of trauma informed practice
27

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 40

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19
Address the challenges experienced by vulnerable
children and young and support young people in their
recovery in particular:

Understanding our community and responding to
changing demographics and cultural differences,
which includes:

•

•

Children with Disabilities and Special
Educational Needs

• Children of dual heritage

• Child Sexual Exploitation
• Online Exploitation
• Missing from home and school

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

• Child Sexual Abuse / Sexually
Harmful Behaviour

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

• Radicalisation
• Self harming behaviour / suicide

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Traveller Community

• Unaccompanied Children and Young People
Vulnerable
Children and
Young People

Community
and Changing
Demographic
HSCB
Priorities

Neglect

• Under and Over representation in Services
• Hearing the voice of children and
young people
• Supporting parents and carers

Violence Against
Women and Girls

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Ensure that the issues of neglect receives due
prominence in early identification, assessment,
prevention and intervention work especially where
there are concerns of:
• Parental Mental Health or Learning Difficulties
• Parental Domestic Abuse
• Parental Substance Misuse

Improving the identification, assessment
and response to domestic abuse and raising
awareness to reduce the prevalence of:
• Honour based violence
• Female Genital Mutilation
• Modern Day Slavery
• Trafficking
• Forced Marriage

28

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 41

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19
Vulnerable Children and Young People
The board has identified the need to address the
challenges experienced by vulnerable children and young
people and to support them in their recovery. In doing so
it recognised the specific vulnerabilities of the following
groups:
• Children with disabilities and special educational needs
• Child sexual exploitation
• Online exploitation
• Missing from home and school
• Child sexual abuse/sexually harmful behaviour
• Radicalisation
• Self-harming behaviour/suicide
Why is this a priority?
The HSCB has focused on specific challenges and
vulnerabilities faced by children with disabilities over the
past few years and wishes to maintain this momentum.
The Board requires ongoing assurances from partners
that the safeguarding of disabled children is understood
and supported across the local education, health and
care partnership.

linking factors identified are for children who also go
missing from school/education and there is a developing
concern about children involved in or being a victim of
gang and knife crime. This is reflected in ‘Joint Targeted
Area Inspections’ which highlight the links between
county lines and exploitation. Children who regularly go
missing are at increased risk of CSE.
Linking these areas of risk and including the risk of
radicalisation and online exploitation filters into all of
these factors and is therefore a priority area for the HSCB.
As a result of the learning from the Serious Case Review
of Family H, the HSCB identified a priority around sexual
abuse and sexually harmful behaviour. It is seeking
assurance that partners work together cohesively
to recognise and respond to the needs of this
vulnerable group.
Children and young people suffering from mental health
difficulties and associated self-harming behaviours is
recognised as a growing area of need and an area that
the HSCB requires assurance of effective support for
this group.

Child sexual exploitation (CSE) continues to be both a
local and national priority and therefore remains a priority
of the Board for this 2 year plan. Further vulnerability
29

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 42

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19
What have we done?
Roll out of ‘Breaking the Chain’.
Theatre production to kick start conversations
and build resilience around youth violence
and knife crime reaching a total of 5300 young
people and over 200 professionals
Delivery of the first multi-agency learning
hub on ‘Gangs and Knife Crime’ with
approximately 180 multi-agency staff
from across Hertfordshire coming together
to learn and share experience and
knowledge on this topic

Multi-agency audit on
‘Child Sexual Abuse’

Contribution to the development of the
Wellbeing Strategy

Development of the Champions against
Child Expoiltation Network

Familial Sexual Abuse Conference

Contribution to the development of the
‘Serious Violent Crime Strategy Action Plan’

Multi-Agency Training
SOS Project and the development of Youth
Action Panels

Child Sexual Exploitation
Safeguarding Vulnerable Children

Development of a toolkit for schools to
support in identifying young people at
risk of exploitation

Development of the ‘Harmful Sexual
Behaviour Pathway’

Raising awareness of trauma
informed practice

Twilight Sessions for Designated
Safeguarding Leads and Head teachers on
online safety and self-harm and suicide

Launch of the anti-abuse curriculum guidance

Review on suicide cases

Conference on
‘Safeguarding Children with Disabilities’

Annual conference which included an
interactive presentation from Brook
in relation to their traffic light tool

Development of the multi-agency data
set on missing children

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

30

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Community and Changing Demographic

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 43

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

The Board wants to better understand our community
and respond to changing demographics and cultural
differences. This focus has included:
• Traveller Community
• Children of dual heritage
• Unaccompanied children and young people
• Under and over representation in services
• Hearing the voice of children and young people
• Supporting parents and carers
Why is this priority?
The Board published a SCR in September 2017. The
subject of this SCR was from the traveller community
and the SCR identified the need for professionals to have
a better understanding of this community and therefore
work more effectively in partnership with members
from it.

over represented in referrals to Children’s social care.
The Board therefore needs to be assured that partners
are educated and recognise the challenges faced by these
groups as well as provide professional challenge about
why certain groups are over or under represented.
Hearing the voice of the child and furthermore
considering the impact on the delivery of services (to
them and others) is an area of challenge often identified
through case reviews and audit. The Board therefore
needs to promote this across the partnership and
maintain the importance of this as a key priority.
In recognising vulnerable groups, the Board also needs to
consider how some vulnerable children and young people
are supported. It therefore requires assurance about
the effective multi-agency services in place to support
parents and carers.

There are 504 children from Irish Traveller or Gypsy Roma
heritage attending schools in Hertfordshire. Data tells us
that children of this heritage are over-represented in the
number of referrals made to Children’s Services.
There are some groups within Hertfordshire where it is
known there is over and under representation.
For example, children of Black/Black British ethnicity are
31

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19
What have we done?

All multi-agency audits include consideration
of the voice of the child

Agenda Pack Page 44

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire

Raising parent awareness on online safety
through a parents’ conference

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Workshop on working with the
traveller community

Private fostering annual conference

Multi-agency training on developing skills on
‘Having Difficult Conversations’

Raising awareness on private fostering
through workshops at a Housing Conference
A workshop on working with the traveller
community was held at the annual conference

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1

Multi-agency training on working with the
traveller community

Directory of resources for working with the
traveller community
Campaigns over the past year have included;
‘Say something if you see something’,
Suicide, Water Safety, and Safe Sleeping

Appendix 2
Appendix 3

32

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Neglect:

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 45

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

The Board has sought to continue to ensure that the
issues of neglect receives due prominence in early
identification, assessment, prevention and intervention.

What have we done?
Multi-agency training on the
Graded Care Profile

• Particular groups of focus have been identified
• Parental Mental Health or Learning Difficulties
• Parental Domestic Abuse

Multi-agency training on the toxic trio

• Parental Substance Misuse
Why is this priority?
Neglect is the most common form of child maltreatment
in England. The impact of neglect on children and young
people is significant. Neglect causes great distress to
children, leading to poor outcomes in all areas. The early
recognition of neglect and timely and effective responses
to neglect is vital in providing families with the help
they need.
Neglect can often take place alongside other forms of
abuse including domestic abuse, substance misuse,
mental illness and disability. Neglect is often marked
by peaks and troughs in caregiving which usually
corresponds with professional advance and retreat and
this can make it difficult to maintain change.

Domestic Abuse notifications
sent to schools

Neglect Leaflet

Scoping of a refreshed Neglect Strategy

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

The number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan
for neglect remained the highest category as of
April 2018.

Development of a framework
for joint case reviews

33

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 46

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19
Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG)
The Board is seeking to work across agencies focusing
on improving the identification, assessment and response
to domestic abuse and raising awareness to reduce the
prevalence of:
• Honour based violence
• Female genital mutilation
• Modern day slavery
• Trafficking
• Forced marriage
Why is this priority
There has been a lot of awareness-raising of honourbased violence (HBV) and female genital mutilation
(FGM) over the past few years. These issues remain

and have significant impacts upon the lives of many
women and girls. A 2017 media report (citing analysis
of NHS data) stated FGM is either discovered or treated
every hour in the UK. Since the criminalisation of
forced marriage, reports of honour-based violence have
increased nationally.
In a police operation undertaken on 28th April 2018, three
potential victims of trafficking and slavery were identified
and arrests made.
An Honour Based Violence and FGM policy has been
written and is currently being progressed for sign off.
This will set out clear pathways for professionals to be
able to recognise and respond.
In light of this ongoing safeguarding issue, the Board
has chosen to maintain it as an area for development
and scrutiny.

Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

34

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
Priorities 2018-19

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

What have we done?

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Conference on Modern Slavery and
awareness raising at local multi-agency
safeguarding forums

Launch of FGM Pathway

Funding for specialised FGM worker

FGM Training

FGM multi-agency audit

Updated multi-agency policy
on ‘Breast Ironing’

Quarterly analysis of Domestic Abuse
Multi-Agency Data

Funding for Multi-Agency Risk Assessment
Conference (MARAC) posts

Domestic Abuse Investigation and
Investigation Unit Audit

Improvements to the local Domestic Homicide
Review Framework

Implementation of the actions from the
MARAC Review

Domestic Abuse Awareness Raising

Agenda Pack Page 47

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

35

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 48

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Statutory Functions
Learning and Improvement
The statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard
Children (HM Government 2015) requires the Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) to have a local
learning and improvement framework within which
reviews and audits are carried out.

• Review of child protection incidents that fall below the
threshold for an SCR (referred to in Hertfordshire as a
partnership case review (PCR).

The Hertfordshire framework is set out in the
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Procedures. Its aim is
to identify improvements which are needed and to
consolidate good practice through programmes of action
which produce improvements and the prevention of death,
serious injury or harm to children.

Individual cases which may require a review are
considered by the HSCB Case Review Group which is
chaired by an independent person with experience in
conducting reviews. This group makes recommendations
to the independent chair of the HSCB. However, the
decision on whether to conduct a serious case review
rests with the independent chair of the HSCB. The HSCB
oversees implementation of actions resulting from these
reviews and reflects on progress.

The framework covers the full range of single and
multi-agency reviews and audits which aim to drive
improvements to safeguard and promote the welfare
of children.

• Review or audit of practice or theme in one or
more agencies.

Multi-agency audits are determined by the Business Plan
or recommendations from case reviews.

Types of Reviews
The different types of reviews commissioned by the
HSCB include:
• Serious Case Review: for every case where abuse or
neglect is known or suspected and either a child dies,
or a child is seriously harmed and there are concerns
about how organisations or professionals worked
together to safeguard the child
• Child death review: a review of all unexpected
child deaths

Reviews in progress, published or
commissioned in 2018-19
Published reviews – these can be found on the HSCP
website along with the full recommendations and HSCB
Board response.
All reviews result in an action plan derived from the
recommendation which is tracked to completion by the
HSCB. The following case is making good progress.
36

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 49

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Statutory Functions
Learning and Improvement
In January 2019, the HSCB published a SCR report of the
services provided to a family where a child, referred to as
‘Child I’ drowned in the household bath. It is fully accepted
that this was a tragic accident.
As part of the learning from this case it was identified
that there should be a re-emphasis to parents of young
children of the dangers of leaving them unattended
while bathing them. The HSCB has also publicised its
Water Safety campaign again with partners and the
general public.

Multi-Agency Audits
Female Genital Mutilation
The Hertfordshire Multi-agency FGM Care Pathway was
launched in September 2017. The HSCB smart survey
was sent out across multi-agencies to seek the views of
staff on the awareness of the pathway, how accessible
it is and how easy it is to use. The survey was sent out
to agencies (Children’s Services, Schools and Family
Centres, Health: GP surgeries, HPFT, HCT, Herts Urgent
Care, E&NHT, WHHT and Public Health and Police) in
November 2018.
Audit response, although variable across agencies,
was positive. There was an impressive response from
Education/Early years. 74% of personnel were aware of
the FGM Care Pathway which would indicate a successful
launch and subsequent dissemination of information.

Referrals to Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
This audit was commissioned to analyse the quality of
partner referrals into Children’s Services. Thirty-five
cases were audited with cases randomly selected across a
range of agencies from referrals received in the preceding
three months. In all 35 audits for 35 cases there was a
100% return rate. The audit identified some good practice
which is now used to inform future training for agencies.
There were also some learning opportunities identified to
improve the quality of referrals into Children’s Services
for which a multi-agency action plan was developed and
monitored by the Practice, Policy and Procedures Group.
Children subject to a Child Protection Plan for a
second time
This audit concluded in May 2018 and considered
children who have been subject to a Child Protection
plan for a second time in the past two years. It sought to
understand the reasons why children continue to be at
risk of significant harm within two years of having been
removed from a CP Plan. Further, to identify whether
there is any learning about the quality of plans, reasons
for plan ending, interactions or agency interventions that
can be improved to reduce the risk of significant harm in
a timely, measurable and durable way for this cohort and
other children at risk.
The audit identified the need for multi-agency reports
to Child Protection conferences to be outcome focused,
to fully consider the impact of the needs identified on
37

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 50

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Statutory Functions
Learning and Improvement
the child and to contain the voice of the child. This was
also identified as a need in the Child Protection plans
produced. Furthermore, to ensure information received at
Child Protection conferences and Core Groups is shared,
documented and distributed in a timely way. The audit
highlighted the need for professionals to fully contribute
to the child protection process but to be supported in
doing so through training and to be confident in escalating
issues of concern. Supervision for agencies that do not
have the relevant infrastructure in their own organisations
was raised. Finally, the need for practitioners to be skilled
in direct work with children in order to elicit their views
and wishes.
The quality of the audits provided for this audit were
hugely improved. The actions are now within an action
plan overseen by the Performance and Audit Group.

Section 11 Assessments
Section 11 (4) of the Children Act 2004 requires each
person or body to which the duties apply to have regard
to any guidance given to them by the Secretary of State
and places a statutory requirement on organisations and
individuals to ensure they have arrangements in place to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 states that
one of the key functions of a Local Safeguarding Children
Board is:

“monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is
done by the authority and their Board partners individually
and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children and advising them on ways to improve;”
Part of the way in which Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board (HSCB) discharges this function is by
carrying out a Section 11 Audit on an annual basis. The
HSCB Executive in 2017-2018 agreed a new process
for undertaking the Section 11 Audits. This process
will provide a targeted approach to addressing key
safeguarding themes coming out of the audit thus
improving the safety and wellbeing of all children and
young people in Hertfordshire.
Methodology
The audit has been carried out over three waves and
each wave will have four phases. The first wave started
in December 2017, wave 2 started in April 2018 and wave
3 started in December 2018. This methodology provided
qualitative and quantitative data and information to
analyse compliance with Section 11 responsibilities.
The first phase of the audit was the online survey.
The online survey was made up of a set of eleven
questions designed to be answered by staff of all
levels and grades across all agencies reflecting that
safeguarding is the responsibility of all. The online survey
was sent to the agreed safeguarding lead in partner
agencies and was sent out in three different waves.
38

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 51

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2

Statutory Functions
Learning and Improvement
The agencies included were:
Children’s Services, Adult Care Services,
Wave 1: BeNCH, Health, Hertfordshire Constabulary,
Probation
Wave 2: Early Years services and schools
District and Borough Councils, Hertfordshire
Wave 3: Fire & Rescue Services, Housing Providers
and Leisure Centres
Agency safeguarding leads were asked to cascade the
survey to as many staff as possible.
The second phase of the audit requested that each agency
carry out a self-assessment of the results of the survey.
The purpose of the self-assessment was to look at the
strengths and gaps in staff safeguarding knowledge and
to look at appropriate learning and training.

This new process for the Section 11 audit has been an
effective way of carrying it out. This is the first time this
has been carried out using this method and has provided
benchmark data for further audits. The dissemination
of the on-line survey to front line staff meant that they
were involved in the process and this acted as training
re-enforcement. The feedback from agencies was that
the reports were very good and also provided helpful
comparison data. The task of completing the selfassessment and action plans assisted them with looking
at the safeguarding training and practice. The interview
phase of the process provided good feedback on the
process which can be incorporated into the design of
survey questions and planning future audits.
Further audits will include follow up with agencies on
their action plans.

The third phase of the audit was asking the agency to
write their action plan on a template provided. Action
plans were to be returned to assess, monitor and provide
support to all staff in safeguarding children effectively.
The fourth phase of interviews and feedback of the audit
was to help improve the audit process and better carry
out the responsibility to scrutinise and monitor the quality
and effectiveness in safeguarding children.

Appendix 3

39

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 52

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Allegations against Staff
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO Working
Together March 2015) states:

“Local authorities should put in place arrangements
to provide advice and guidance on how to deal with
allegations against people who work with children
to employers and voluntary organisations. Local
authorities should also ensure that there are appropriate
arrangements in place to effectively liaise with the police
and other agencies to monitor the progress of cases and
ensure that they are dealt with as quickly as possible,
consistent with a thorough and fair process.”

• It is discovered that an individual known to have been
involved previously in child abuse, is or has been
working with children.
The number of allegations against a member of the
children’s workforce received by the LADO continues to be
monitored quarterly by the Performance Group. This data
forms part of the HSCB multi-agency dataset. In 201819,10% of the allegations received met threshold which
is a decrease from last year’s 12.5%. This year has seen
an increase in the overall number of allegations and a
reduction in allegations that met threshold.

The scope of the role defines the framework for managing
cases when it has been alleged that a person who works
with children has:
• Behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have
harmed a child;
• Possibly committed a criminal offence against or
related to a child; or
• Behaved towards a child or children in a way that
indicates they may pose a risk of harm to children.
The procedures apply to situations when:
• There are suspicions or allegations of abuse by a
person who works with children in either a paid or
unpaid capacity - as a permanent, temporary or agency
staff member, contract worker, consultant, volunteer,
approved foster carer, child minder or approved
adopter;
40

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

Agenda Pack Page 53

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire has one designated Private Fostering
worker within the Family and Friends team and a further
half time worker has been assigned from within the team.
In addition to the statutory visits and assessments,
the Private Fostering worker has continued to undertake
a programme of awareness-raising activities throughout
the year both internally within the Service and with
partner agencies. These have included attendance at
the local safeguarding forums; talks within various team
meetings; contribution to safeguarding training to school
DSPs and early years’ settings; stands at the Multi Faith
Forum Conference and the Early Years Conference; and,
presentations to the Academy cohorts and University
Social work students.

During the period April 2018-March 2019, there were a
total of 30 new Private Fostering notifications and a total
of 27 Private Fostering assessments were completed.
There was a total of 17 arrangements at the end of
March 2019.
The requirement to raise and maintain awareness
amongst staff, other professionals and the general public
remains a huge task and continues to be hampered by the
lack of a national campaign, a specified budget assigned
for this purpose and the limitations of staff resources.
Hertfordshire however continues to take a proactive
approach and is seeking to develop new links with other
agencies and community resources.

Quarterly meetings of the Private Fostering
Development and Action Group have continued with
the aim of knowledge/ideas being shared and for
respective agencies who attend to contribute to the
task of maintaining its profile within their services.
The Group provides an overview of actions relating to
Private Fostering development work and to review the
effectiveness of the actions.
Hertfordshire continue to be a member of the Coram
BAAF Private Fostering Special Interest Group. Meetings
are held twice a year and this gives opportunity for local
authorities to meet and share information and knowledge.
Low notification of Private Fostering arrangements and
limitations of resources for this area of work, continue to
be a common theme for local authorities.
41

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board Budget 2018-2019
2018-19 Partners contributions

2018-19 Spend

BeNCH CRC

4,032

Salary and Salary Related and
Independent Chair

228,225

CAFCASS

550

Software

19,633

East and North Herts CCG

52,150

Board Supplies

15,961

Hertfordshire County Council

198,694

Training and Annual Conference

198,694

Hertfordshire Constabulary

16,800

Herts Valley CCG

52,150

-5,700

52,150

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

National Probation

2,688

Case Reviews and Audits

65,997

Statutory Functions

Total

327,064

Total

326,495

Agenda Pack Page 54

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Income

22,175

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

A total of £137,356 from previous underspend is carried forward to 2019/20

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

42

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Appendix 1 – Members of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding
Children Board Partnership
3 Schools

Hertfordshire in
Numbers

Cafcass

HSCB Structure
and Governance

District and Borough Councils

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire

Further education institution representing four Hertfordshire colleges

Agenda Pack Page 55

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Allegations against
Staff

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1

BeNCH CRC (Bedfordshire, Northamptonshire, Cambridgeshire and Hertfordshire Community Rehabilitation Company)

Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Constabulary
Hertfordshire County Council Children’s Services - Education & Early Intervention
Hertfordshire County Council Children’s Services - Safeguarding & Specialist Services
Hertfordshire County Council Public Health Service
Hertfordshire National Probation Service
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
NHS England
NHS England - Hertfordshire and South Midland Local Area Team
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts – East & North Herts Hospitals
The two Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Groups
West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust

Appendix 2
Appendix 3

43

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Appendix 2 - Attendance at Strategic Board meetings 2018 - 19
Member/Agency/Organisation

Attendance

Independent Chair (2018 only)

3/3

Assistant Chief Constable, Hertfordshire Constabulary

3/4

Assistant Chief Legal Officer, Adult & Children’s Law, HCC

3/4

Executive Director Quality & Safety, Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

3/4

Service Manager, CAFCASS

0/4

Designated Doctor for Child Protection & Consultant Paediatrician, West Herts NHS

2/4

Designated Doctor for Child Protection & Consultant Paediatrician, E&N Herts NHS

4/4

Designated Nurse, Safeguarding Children & Children Looked After, E&N Herts CCG

4/4

Director of Children’s Services, HCC (or representative)

4/4

Director of Quality & Governance, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust

4/4

Director of Nursing & Quality, E&N Herts CCG / Director of Nursing & Quality, Herts Valley CCG

4/4

Chief Nurse & DIPC West Hertfordshire NHS Trust

4/4

Director of Family Safeguarding, HCC

3/4

Representative of Schools

2/4

Deputy Principle, Further Education

0/4

Statutory Functions

Chief Executive, District Councils

4/4

Allegations against
Staff

Executive Member, Children’s Services

3/4

Head of Hertfordshire National Probation Service

4/4

Head of Service, Children & Young People, Public Health

3/4

Programmes Manager, Herts BeNCH CRC

2/4

HSCB Business Manager

4/4

Appendix 1

HSCB Board Manager

4/4

Appendix 2

Ambulance Service

3/4

Director of Nursing, E&N Hertfordshire NHS Trust

2/4

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 56

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Private Fostering
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 3

44

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Appendix 3 - Training Course 2018-2019 – Attendance
The number of attendees below relates to Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board Multi-Agency courses only.
All organisations have their own responsibility for providing other safeguarding training.
Agency

Total number of
attendees per
agency

HCC: Other

Hertfordshire in
Numbers

Ambulance Service

4

HSCB Structure
and Governance

BeNCH

9

Charitable Organisations

104

District and Borough councils

37

Health: CCG East and North
Herts and Herts Valleys
Health: CLCG Central London
Community Healthcare
NHS Trust
Health: East and North
NHS Trust

Early Years: Childminders

5

Health: GP or Dental Practice

Early Years: Children’s Centres

131

Early Years: Pre-schools and
Nurseries

35

Education: Middle School

5

Education: Primary

431

Education: Secondary

175

Allegations against
Staff

Education: Education Support
Centre

16

Private Fostering

Education: Independent School

Agenda Pack Page 57

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019
Statutory Functions

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Health: HCT Hertfordshire
Community Trust
Health: HPFT Herts Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust
Health: Private or Independent
Health Sector

53
22
17
31
3
287
50
13

Health: West Herts NHS Trust

23

Housing Association

28

National Probation Service

23

14

Other

22

Education: special School

24

Police

28

Faith Sector

2

Sports and Leisure Organisation

5

Further Education
Establishments

29

Women’s Refuge

7

HCC: Children’s Services

524

Total

2157
45

Contents
Foreword:
Nicky Pace –
Former Chair of
Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board

Appendix 3 - Training Course 2018-2019 – Attendance
Total number of attendees by course Apr 18 - Mar 19
Course Title

Total number of
attendees

How many times
the course ran

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups

48

5

Physical Abuse/Bruising Lite Bite

87

4

Child Sexual Exploitation Prevention, Protection and Investigation

97

4

Self-Harm Awareness Lite Bite

84

4

Understanding and Identifying Neglect with a Focus on Early Help

64

4

Safeguarding and Child Protection Multi-Agency course

344

23

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding Children
Partnership Structure

The Toxic Trio

101

6

Highlights of
Sub-Group Work
2018-2019

Graded Care Profile Lite Bite

88

5

Disguised Compliance and Avoidant Families

101

4

Brook Tool Training – Harmful Sexual Behaviours

301

Child Protection Conference Training

37

1

Statutory Functions

See the Adult See the Child

35

1

Allegations against
Staff

Children & Young People’s Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy

48

1

Private Fostering

Train the Trainer – Delivering the Brook Tool Training

18

1

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Budget 2017-2019

Learning Hubs

179

4

HSCB/HSAB Rapid response to a Child Death Conference

42

1

Appendix 1

Twilight Sessions - Events for Designated Safeguarding Leads

483

9

Local background
and context for
safeguarding
children in
Hertfordshire

Agenda Pack Page 58

Hertfordshire in
Numbers
HSCB Structure
and Governance

New Child
Safeguarding
Arrangements for
Hertfordshire

Hertfordshire
Safeguarding
Children Board
Priorities 2017-2019

Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Total 2157
46

Agenda Pack Page 59

Essential Information
Annual Report compiled in April 2018 on behalf
of Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board by:
Caroline Aitken Safeguarding Boards Manager
Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
and Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board
Room 152,
County Hall / Postal point CHO 116
Pegs Lane Hertford SG13 8DQ
Tel: 01992 588757
Approved by the Strategic Board in
September 2018
Available on HSCB web site:
http://www.hertssafeguarding.org.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

4
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 AT 10.00AM
CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH (CAMHS) UPDATE
Report of David Evans, Chief Executive Herts Valleys CCG (Interim) and Jenny
Coles, Director of Children’s Services
Author:

Deborah Sheppard, Senior CAMHS Commissioning Manager,
Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team, Tel: 01442 454224

1. Purpose of report
1.1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Board on important developments in
the system of support for Children and Young People with emotional wellbeing
and mental health needs. The report explains the emerging system redesign
as well as giving an overview of current performance and new developments
around Mental Health Support Teams for schools; a priority in the
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) Children and Maternity
workstream.
2. Summary
2.1. CAMHS is a range of provisions supporting the continuum of need that children
and young people experience in relation to their mental health and emotional
wellbeing and which are funded through health as well as the County Council
and voluntary sector. In order to address need as early as possible, the
continuum of provision needs to be considered as a system and supported to
operate as one.
2.2. Providers of mental health services for children and young people in
Hertfordshire report significant challenges in meeting the demand for services.
This is despite only a small increase in the national prevalence of rates of
mental ill health among children and young people between surveys published
in 2004 and 2018.
2.3. The Hertfordshire CAMHS Transformation Plan1 sets out the priorities of
stakeholders in improving mental health outcomes and access to appropriate
The Local CAMHS Transformation Plan is available at:
http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/transforming-mental-health-services-children-and-young-people-camhs
1

Agenda Pack Page 61

1

support including principles for a new model aligned with the Thrive2 approach;
a needs led model that moves us away from tiers, diagnostic pathways and
families ‘bouncing around’ a fragmented system.
2.4. This report provides an overview of the developing model. Alongside this it
summarises current performance and waiting times and gives an update on the
Trailblazer pilots arising from the ‘Transforming children and young people’s
mental health provision: a Green Paper’, published in December 2017 which is
bringing new Mental Health Support teams into schools.
3. Recommendation
3.1. The Board are asked to:
3.1.1 Comment on and note the developing design of the CAMHS system
across a range of services to provide a continuum of support detailed in
this Report;
3.1.2 Discuss the current levels of performance of some of the existing
services, the challenges in meeting high levels of demand particularly
in Specialist Community CAMHS and the work being undertaken to
address this;
3.1.3 Note the programme and funding for two further Mental Health Support
Teams for Schools awarded to Hertfordshire and West Essex STP.
4. Background
4.1. A local review of CAMHS was presented to Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing
Board in 2014. This was closely followed by the Department of Health’s
Report, Future in mind - Promoting, protecting and improving our children and
young people’s mental health and wellbeing3. This report presented a vision for
children and young peoples’ mental health alongside a national announcement
of £1.25billion additional funding to transform Child and Adolescent Mental
Health Services (CAMHS) over the following five years.
4.2. Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), East and North Herts CCG
and the County Council have joint responsibility for delivery of Hertfordshire’s
CAMHS Transformation Plan, which aims to increase access for children and
young people to early intervention and prevention provision across the five
years of the programme to 2020/21. It also focuses on delivering a year on year
increase of children and young people with a diagnosable mental health
condition receiving treatment.
A brief overview of the conceptual framework can be found here: http://implementingthrive.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/04/7-Minute-Briefing-THRIVE-Conceptual-Framework-2019_C.pdf
2

3Future

in mind - Promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing
can be found here:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childre
ns_Mental_Health.pdf

Agenda Pack Page 62

2

4.3. Progress has been made in a number of areas since 2015. The major areas of
additional investment under the CAMHS Transformation Plan have been:
o An expansion of the dedicated Eating Disorders team for children and
young people.
o Improving access to CAMHS services by increasing capacity.
o Working with schools to improve their knowledge and expertise, as well
as improving links to specialist CAMHS services.
o Increasing availability of support for children and young people
experiencing a mental health crisis.
o Developing a local specialist community perinatal mental health service
for mothers during pregnancy and in the first year after birth. This
service will see around 730 mothers a year.
o Reducing waiting times for autism diagnosis.
4.4. Hertfordshire is committed to ensuring that the emotional and mental wellbeing
of our children and young people is both a priority and a responsibility for all
partners. Over the past 12 months, there has been continued investment in,
and work towards, increasing access to evidence based mental health
interventions in a timely way to help children and young people at the earliest
opportunity, develop support for parents and carers, improve support for
children and young people experiencing crisis and/or trauma, and engaging in
sexually harmful behaviours. Our perinatal mental health service has been
shortlisted for an award two years in a row and our eating disorder service has
received an award and a number of commendations. Both services continue
to receive excellent patient feedback.
4.5. Hertfordshire was selected as an early adopter of the Thrive model. There are
ten i-THRIVE accelerator sites across England who have been working to
implement the THRIVE Framework for system change (Wolpert et al., 2019)2
as part of their CAMHS transformation plans since October 2015. The ten
accelerator sites were initially selected to receive support for implementation
from the National i-THRIVE Programme through the NHS Innovation
Accelerator programme. As an accelerator site, Hertfordshire is part of an
ongoing evaluation being undertaken by the Anna Freud National Centre for
Children and Families in order to assess the local pathways and transformation
work.
4.6. The NHS has set national targets to increase the number of children and
young people accessing NHS funded support in line with the Five Year
Forward View for mental health4. The numbers who could benefit from help
are based on national estimates of prevalence in 2004 and applied to the
Hertfordshire population of children and young people in 2015. In Hertfordshire
this equates to 21,699 children and young people. In 2017/18 Hertfordshire
met the requirement set by the NHS to provide access to provision for 30% of
these children and young people and in 18/19 met the 32% target. The 19/20

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health can be found at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/07/fyfv-mh.pdf
4

Agenda Pack Page 63

3

target is 34%. The national NHS Long Term Plan5 published earlier this year
has set out further increases over the next 5 years. Our local ambition is
shared with the NHS Long Term Plan to deliver support to 100% of those that
need it.
5. Progress on CAMHS Transformation Plan
5.1. There is a range of mental health support available for children and young
people (CYP) across Hertfordshire, ranging from early intervention and
preventative programmes and interventions provided by;

GPs,

the voluntary sector,

School Nurses – for example a six week programme of support for mild
to moderate anxiety, low mood etc,

Health Visitors,

Family Centres,

YC Hertfordshire - through Supporting You, a group cognitive behaviour
therapy (CBT) intervention delivered in the community

A range of clinical posts embedded within HCC Children’s Services

And various websites through to more targeted and specialist support
available from health commissioned providers.
5.2. Currently, Hertfordshire County Council (on behalf of the two NHS Clinical
Commissioning Groups) commissions a range of provision for Children and
Young People who require additional support for their mental health and
wellbeing. Currently this includes;
 Community Counselling – to provide a range of therapeutic support
 Step 2 – a lower level emotional wellbeing service provided through
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT)
 Positive Behaviour Autism Learning Disability Mental Health Service
(PALMS) a specialist multi-disciplinary approach to children and young
people aged 0-19 who have a global learning disability and/or Autistic
Spectrum Disorder and their families who provide integrated mental
health and challenging behaviour support.
 Kooth – a digital resource to provide free online counselling for 10-25
year olds
 Specialist CAMHS provision provided by Hertfordshire Partnership
University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) who are commissioned to
deliver the following services:
o CAMHS Community Specialist Teams – these teams will work with
all CYP who need specialist support to help them with their
emotional wellbeing and mental health.
o CAMHS Crisis Assessment and Treatment Team (C-CATT) – this
team will provide short term support for CYP who are in crisis, for
example those that attend A&E with acute mental health needs

In 2018, the government announced £20.5bn of additional funding for the NHS in England by 2023/24. The
NHS Long Term Plan launched in January 2019 sets out priorities for how this money will be spent over the
next ten years. It can be found here: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
5

Agenda Pack Page 64

4

o Eating Disorder Team – this team works with CYP who have eating
issues and eating disorders.
o Targeted Team – the Targeted Team is an early intervention
service that provides support to children who are looked after (or
have a current social worker supporting them) and their wider
network (e.g. carer, social worker etc.).
5.3. Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT), as the
statutory NHS provider of specialist CAMHS, is contracted to meet a locally
determined Key Performance Indicator (KPI) of ensuring that an initial
assessment of need takes place within 28 days for all new routine referrals.
The 28 days to assessment KPI has been challenging for HPFT to meet
consistently over the past three years. A recent improvement in performance
has been delivered within HPFT Specialist Community CAMHS; numbers of
children and young people waiting for an initial assessment has dropped from
465 earlier in the year to 71 in November.
5.4. Step 2, is an NHS early intervention service provided by Hertfordshire
Community Trust (HCT). It is a children and young people’s mental health
service working with 0-19 year olds in Hertfordshire. It offers brief, goal focused
interventions to those who have mild to moderate mental health difficulties
which are causing distress and impacting on day to day life. Step 2 worked
with less cases last year than the year before. Increased complexity has
required the service to provide more liaison, consultation and support to other
parts of the system. However, in the last 12 months this has increased to the
highest rate of accepted referrals in the history of the service. Whilst wait
times to access the service had been creeping up since 2017 they are now
reducing.
5.5. PALMS is a specialist service to support children and young people with
learning difficulties or autistic spectrum conditions with mental health problems
and behaviour that challenges. It has been through a service improvement
journey that has seen significant reductions in waiting times (reduced from 27
weeks to treatment in Nov 2017 to 13.8 weeks to treatment in July 2019) and
numbers of children and young people waiting for an intervention. PALMS will
also be providing a crisis offer this year.
5.6. The Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team (IHCCT, working on
behalf of the CCGs and the County Council) commission four Community
Counselling providers. There has been some areas of challenge in delivery
and sustainability of provision, however, commissioners are working with the
community counselling providers to ensure they are as supported as possible.
5.7. Kooth is an online counselling and emotional well-being platform for children
and young people, accessible through mobile, tablet and desktop and free at
the point of use. The Kooth contract has consistently over performed.
Additional funding has been agreed to ensure a rapid response to Herts users
is maintained.

Agenda Pack Page 65

5

5.8. There has been a significant increase in referrals and complexity of need in
recent months. There is still work to do to find the best balance between
prevention and early intervention to reduce escalation and more specialist
clinical interventions required for the most severe needs and complex cases.
5.9. To meet these challenges, additional funding has been agreed for extra
resources in both Step 2 and Specialist Community CAMHS. This will create
capacity and reduce current waiting lists in the short term, while the work
continues to embed and co-ordinate the continuum of support model with the
aim of relieving a reliance on more specialist services.
5.10. The table below demonstrates the impact of the work to address the increase in
referrals to Specialist Community CAMHS
Specialist CAMHS backlog programme (August to November) complete
Specialist CAMHS number waiting for assessment Aug 19

465

Specialist CAMHS % assessed within 28 days Aug 19

25.48%

Specialist CAMHS number waiting for assessment Dec 19

69

Specialist CAMHS % assessed within 28 days Dec 19

94%

5.11. HPFT and HCT are actively exploring opportunities to work together to improve
and supplement existing services and address capacity issues. HPFT are
already working with a digital provider to deliver online assessment and post
diagnostic support for Children and young people with ADHD. HPFT and HCT
are exploring the potential for this digital provider to undertake assessments
and prove online Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT).
5.12. HPFT and HCT have put forward a proposal to pilot a joint assessment team
co-located in HPFT’s Single Point of Access (SPA). This model will extend the
current offer for the benefit of children and young people and families enabling
prompt access, assessment and brief interventions where assessed to be
appropriate. The services are exploring a joint offer at the interface with each
other to ensure children and young people do not face delays whilst services
identify which one is the most appropriate to meet their needs.
6. Developing the model for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services in
Hertfordshire
6.1. In Hertfordshire, our vision and overall aim is that children, young people, their
families and professionals can access timely and responsive emotional and or
mental health information, advice and support through a single multiagency
gateway. This gateway will lead to effective triage based on needs rather than
presenting issues or diagnosis. This single front door will also provide access
to a continuum of emotional and mental health provision accessed by a single
trusted referral.

Agenda Pack Page 66

6

6.2. It is recognised that the current CAMHS system offers a range of support for
children and young people and their families, including county council funded
services such as Family Centres, YC Herts, school nursing etc, however coordination can be improved to navigate the services available as well as
providing access to self help to empower children, young people, parents and
professionals.
6.3. In response to this, service leads from the County Council’s Children’s
Services, Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT) and Hertfordshire Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT), with support from Integrated Health and Care
Commissioning Team (IHCCT), are working together to strengthen particularly
the Early Help offer for children, young people, their families and the
professionals that support them.
6.4. The key strategic objectives remain:

Children and young people are at the centre of the model and involved in
their care, through a co-ordinated care approach that allows them to
move up and down the continuum of need as appropriate

The wider determinants of emotional wellbeing concerns and poor mental
health (e.g. environmental, whole family) will be considered to ensure
holistic approaches to care and support

The development of a shared performance management framework,
shared and defined outcomes and systemic monitoring arrangements

A system of continuous improvement that seeks to use evidence to
support best practice and systemic service improvement.

Trusted referral mechanisms and consistency in practice across the
county to ensure an equitable offer of support, wherever the child or
young person is based.

An upskilled more knowledgeable workforce and a reduction in
inappropriate referrals
6.5.

The further development of the model for CAMHS has four key work strands;
 Strand 1 - Developing a robust ‘front door’ that will ensure that all families
have sufficient information and receive the right help at the right time
 Strand 2 - Increasing the range of provision available within the system,
by developing new approaches to delivery and broadening the number of
interventions available. Focussing on early support to reduce escalation of
need. Ensuring available provision is responsive to current needs
 Strand 3 - Taking an integrated and locally focused approach to the
delivery of CAMHS in line with the Thrive Model, which moves away from
the tiered system to provide a planning framework focused on needs.
 Strand 4 - Enabling shared outcomes and performance management to
ensure resource allocation is based on the needs of Hertfordshire
families, providing a responsive system that provides help at the earliest
opportunity.

Agenda Pack Page 67

7

6.6. Supporting and underpinning this there are four key pieces of work that will
inform the implementation of this model:
 Demand and Capacity review
 A CAMHS Workforce Strategy that will ensure that the skills and staffing
reflect the needs of children and young people in Hertfordshire.
 Development of the Target Operating Model for the new system
 The all age Mental Health Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
6.7. An immediate focus is on understanding the current demand and capacity of
services, and a review of existing pathways and service provision. An
independent organisation has been commissioned to analyse data from a
range of providers. The demand and capacity review is nearing completion and
will highlight current capacity, how much additional capacity will be required if
we continue to deliver our services in the same way, what unmet need exists
and what recommendations for the future the analysis is directing us to. This
will help to inform the planning for the next stage of development of the
continuum of support.
7. Green Paper Trailblazer
7.1. In December 2017, central government published “Transforming children and
young people’s mental health provision: a green paper”. A primary focus of the
green paper was a focus on earlier intervention and prevention, especially in
and linked to schools and colleges. Within that ambition, the green paper set
out three main proposals:




A designated mental health lead in each school
Mental Health Support Teams (MHST’s) working with schools to
strengthen support for children and young people with mental health
issues
A reduction in waiting times for CAMHS with the aim that everyone would
start treatment within 28 days of referral

7.2. In July 2018 Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) areas, which met pre
selection criteria, were invited to apply to become trailblazer sites to deliver
points 2 and 3 of the above proposals. East and North Herts CCG and Herts
Valleys CCG were among the areas selected.
7.3. In September 2018 a partnership application between East and North CCG,
Herts Valleys CCG, the County Council Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT)
and Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT) was submitted.
The bid, and partnership approach, had the full backing of Children and Young
People’s Emotional and Mental Wellbeing Board which oversees CAMHS
transformation in Hertfordshire.
7.4. In December 2018, it was announced that Hertfordshire had been successful in
their application and would be one of 25 national trailblazer sites in the first

Agenda Pack Page 68

8

rollout of Mental Health School Teams (MHST). The initial trailblazer for
Hertfordshire was for two MHSTs, one in each CCG area.
7.5. The two initial Hertfordshire teams cover selected schools in the districts of
Broxbourne and St Albans due to the high numbers of CAMHS referrals seen
in these parts of the region. Further, children and young people involved in
developing the bid were particularly keen for a team to work within an area with
high levels of academic pressure.
7.6. Training for the initial cohort of MHSTs commenced in January 2019, with the
expectation that the MHSTs will be fully operational by December 2019. The
new local MHST’s will address the needs of children and young people by:

Delivering evidence based interventions in or close to schools and
colleges for those with mild to moderate mental health issues.

Helping children and young people with more severe needs to access
the right support.

Working with and within schools and colleges, providing a link to
specialist NHS services.

Building on and increasing support already in place, rather than
replacing it
7.7. Initial central government funding will fully fund these teams up to March 2021.
(The Green Paper ambition and NHS Long Term Plan is to roll these teams out
across the country). Each team will be expected to see around 500 children
and young people a year.
7.8. The Trailblazer Implementation Group has been established to oversee the
Implementation of the Trailblazer in Hertfordshire. The group comprises
partners across Health, Education, and Children’s Services, and will oversee
the Project Plan milestones and provide oversight and support to the project
manager.
7.9. In order to support the programme, a project manager has been recruited to
ensure that key milestones are met as well as ensuring stakeholders are
informed and engaged. Clinical leadership from within HPFT and an assistant
psychologist to support reporting are also in place.

The Mental Health Support Teams
7.10. The first cohort of trainees came into placement in January and will be
concluding their training in December. A full induction was provided to ensure
that they have a good understanding of Hertfordshire and the children’s
system.
7.11. The MHST trainees have been initially employed by Camden and Islington
NHS Foundation Trust whilst undertaking the training, and will then move to
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust employment with

Agenda Pack Page 69

9

effect from December 2019. The CAMHS community managers will supervise
the MHST team leader, leading to an integrated system which enhances the
Thrive approach.
7.12. The MHST structure is as follows (bands are NHS salary bands):

7.13. The trainees are currently on placement three days a week. The course is a
postgraduate diploma, similar to the Children’s Wellbeing Practitioner course
with the addition of units around working with schools and enhanced
assessment. The training will qualify the trainees to deliver evidence-based
interventions for low mood, anxiety and behavioural symptoms.
Schools involved in the Trailblazer
7.14. Settings involved in the programme include mainstream secondary and
primary schools, independent Schools, Specila Schools, Education Support
Centres (ESC) and Further Education colleges. Pre selection criteria for
schools included the need to have an established mental health lead already
held on the Hertfordshire database. However, the schools have a range of
pastoral infrastructure and are at different stages in relation to their whole
school / college approach and Hertfordshire Kite Mark status.
7.15. A further criteria for schools to apply was the need for them to agree to:
 Appoint a senior point of contact to liaise with the project leads
 Commit to co-producing aspects of the project with children and young
people and parents
 Commit to monitoring and evaluation requirements
 Commit to the new teams providing additional support, not substituting
existing support
 Provide appropriate accommodation to the allocated worker to deliver
group, individual interventions and consultation / training with staff

Agenda Pack Page 70

10




Understand that the teams are in a pilot learning phase between
January and December and as such all parties will be working towards
developing the offer and expectations will be managed to this effect
Offer trainee placements for Education Mental Health Workers during
their training year (between March and December 2019)

7.16. Schools that could meet the above criteria were invited to submit their
expressions of interest. Two Hub schools have been identified to provide
space for the team to have meetings / supervision / touchdown for the duration
of the pilot. One is Rivers ESC and the other is a mainstream secondary
school, St Albans Girls School.
7.17. A number of co-production sessions took place in each area so that schools,
the teams, parents, pupils and local services co-produce the model and test
ideas prior to defining the delivery from December. These have since evolved
into regular network meetings across agencies.
7.18. Green paper Trailblazer Partner Schools 18/19 cohort:
MHST East Herts: Broxbourne Schools MHST West Herts: St Albans
Schools
Haileybury and Imperial Service College St Albans School
Hertford Regional College
Oaklands College
Rivers ESC (Hub School EAST)
Links ESC
Hailey Hall
Batchwood
John Warner
St Luke’s
Robert Barclay
St Albans Girls (Hub School WEST)
Broxbourne
Verulam
Presdales
Beaumont
St Joseph’s
Marlborough
St Augustine’s
Nicholas Breakspear
Wormley
Bernard’s Heath Junior
Forres
Cunningham Hill Infants
Fleetville Junior
Wheatfield’s Infants
Maple
St Michaels C of E VA
Prae Wood
Killigrew
Margaret Wix
Aboyne Lodge

Agenda Pack Page 71

11

Children, Young People and Parent/Carer Feedback
7.19. Feedback from children and young people indicated that a range of referral
mechanisms is necessary in order to make the service accessible. The key
themes identified by children and young people which will be incorporated into
the Hertfordshire model are:
 Provision will be delivered in community venues not just schools
 Improved links with specialist CAMHS and the voluntary sector
 MHSTs will target geographical areas of deprivation
 Academic stress is a growing issue so MHSTs will also target high achieving
schools/pupils
7.20. HPFT’s Youth Council is also keen to develop a working group specifically
around the development of MH Support in schools supported by the children
and young people’s Engagement worker and the Strategic Leads for Mental
Health in Education. This working group will continue with co-production and
ongoing engagement throughout the Trailblazer pilot.
7.21. The CAMHS Parent and Carer forum fully supports the proposed approach
and is supportive of MHSTs being located, or working with ESCs. They felt that
they could add value to the offer for pupils at the centre as well as those in
mainstream schools linked to the ESC by providing timely support co-ordinated
with educational interventions. Existing CWPs have raised that interventions
for mild to moderate need may not be appropriate for our high needs settings –
it is important we test this and demonstrate to NHS England the complexity of
some of the young people in our schools and other settings.
7.22. Parents also raised the need to support pupils that have stopped attending
school as a result of mental health issues and felt that dedicated workers to
focus on this cohort would be an effective use of the resource.
Two Further teams announced June 2019
7.23. In May, local areas were invited to submit expressions of interest for the
second wave of funding and trainees. Local areas were asked to submit these
on Substainablility & Transformation Partnership (STP) footprints. Therefore,
our second bid was made on behalf of Herts Valleys, East and North Herts and
West Essex CCGs. NHS England also required local areas to demontstrate
how the new teams would support vulnerable groups and particularly areas of
high deprivation.
7.24. The second bid requested a further four teams – one for Harlow (the most
deprived ward in the STP), followed by Stevenage and Watford. The bid also
laid out a pilot within a pilot to test a team for special schools. In June,
Hertfordshire and West Essex were informed that the bid had been successful
in respect of the team for Harlow (to be hosted by Mind in West Essex) and the
special schools team (to work across the STP and be hosted by the Positive
Behaviour, Autism and Learning Difficulty Mental Health Service (PALMS)).

Agenda Pack Page 72

12

7.25. On this occasion, the providers were able to be part of the selection process
and trainees were clearer on their final destination. The programme support
from Wave 1 will wrap around these new teams and providers to provide
support and develop consistency and shared learning. The PALMS service
are working closely with the Higher Education Institution to make the special
school team work; there is no training in the exisiting programme to equip the
trainees to work in special schools – PALMS will provide training, shadowing
and close supervised co-delivery: this will evolve into a blueprint for the future
national training model.
7.26. The volume of work involved for the providers in establishing an electronic
patient record that meets both the requirements of the course and the national
expectations around sharing data on access and outcomes, ordering
equipment, agreeing procedures, agreeing Job Descriptions and recruiting to
posts etc without precedent cannot be underestimated. They are to be
commended for their supportive approach to this project.
7.27. The new cohort of trainees started in October 2019 and will be fully operational
in September 2020.
7.28. Green paper Trailblazer Partner Schools 19/20 cohort:
MHST West Essex: Harlow Schools

MHST Herts and West Essex:
Special Schools
Longwood Primary Academy
Forest Hall School
Burnt Mill Academy
Oak View School
Cooks Spinney Primary Academy and Nursery Wells Park School
Passmores Academy
The Collett School
Epping St Johns Church of England School
Southfield School
Freshwaters Primary Academy
The Valley School
Little Parndon Primary Academy
Woolgrove School
Harlow College
Garston Manor
Pear Tree Mead Academy
Colnbrook School
Sir Frederick Gibberd College
Middleton School
St Alban's Catholic Academy
St Luke's Catholic Academy
Hare Street Community Primary School &
Nursery
Longwood Primary Academy
Abbotsweld Primary Academy
Jerounds Primary Academy
Katherines Primary Academy
Latton Green
8. Long Term Plan
8.1. The NHS Long Term Plan focuses considerable attention on the need to
scale up and improve mental health support for children, young people and
young adults. Specific proposals include plans for the expansion of community-

Agenda Pack Page 73

13

based crisis services for children and young people, for at least one-fifth of
schools and colleges to have a mental health support team in place by the end
of 2023, and for a feasibility test for a national access and waiting time
standard for specialist services. The Plan also seeks to address the perennial
issue of transitions between child and adult mental health services by creating
a comprehensive offer for 0-25 year olds.
8.2. To ensure funding for these developments, the Plan pledges that funding for
children and young people’s mental health will rise faster than the average for
the NHS and more than for mental health services for adults. The table below
details the cumulative additional NHS funding for Hertfordshire over the next
four financial years.
Additional NHS funding to meet long term plan ambitions:
2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Community based services and
crisis services

£705,757 £1,298,063 £2,423,424 £3,671,999

Eating disorder services

£216,065 £227,510

Total

£921,822 £1,525,573 £2,658,693 £3,914,886

£235,269

£242,887

8.3 The total annual value of CAMHS contracts commissioned by the Integrated
Health and Care Commissioning Team is £21.1m. HCC Children’s Services
contributes £2m towards CAMH services and projects commissioned by the
Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team. HCC also commission /
deliver a range of provision across Children’s Services to address mental
health and emotional wellbeing. This equates to approx. £546K.
9.0.

Conclusion Summary

9.1. In conclusion there have been challenges in meeting the demand for services
as stigma is reducing and more people are reaching out for support. Efforts
by the continuum of services to improve access to early support and
joining up the system continue across the Health & Wellbeing Board
partnership. There is significant development and investment underway to
deliver improvements for integrated access and risk based support pathways
as well as support in schools.

Report signed off by
Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report
Needs assessment
Completed
Consultation/public involvement
Ongoing

n/a
David Evans, Jenny Coles, Beverley Flowers
Starting Well, Developing Well

Agenda Pack Page 74

14

Equality and diversity implications
Equality Impact Assessment completed as part of CAMHS local transformation plan
Acronyms or terms used. eg:
Initials
In full
CAMHS
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services

Agenda Pack Page 75

15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD

5

TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 at 10:00AM
UPDATE ON THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX SUSTAINABILITY AND
TRANSFORMATION PARTNERSHIP
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services
Author: Iain MacBeath, Director of Adult Care Services and STP Co-Lead (Tel:
01992 556363)

1.

Purpose of report

1.1.

To inform the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board of the latest
developments in the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP) and to invite questions and comments.

2.

Summary

2.1.

The STP is a partnership of the existing NHS commissioners and NHS
providers in Hertfordshire and West Essex and the two County Councils. The
role of the partnership is to act together to transform front-line health and care
services and to influence the agenda of other public, private and community
sector agencies to improve the overall health and wellbeing of residents.

2.2.

Beverley Flowers, Accountable Officer of E&N Herts CCG and Iain MacBeath,
Director of Adult Care Services for the Council have been co-leading the
partnership since July 2019. This interim leadership arrangement is scheduled
to end in March 2020.

2.3.

Our STP became an NHS England ‘accelerator’ site in September 2019 with
16 weeks’ of consultancy support with a number of priorities identified in order
to transition from an STP to an Integrated Care System by April 2020.

2.4.

The STP has also been required to submit a response to the NHS Long Term
Plan, published in April 2019.

3.

Recommendations

3.1.

That the Health and Wellbeing Board note and comment on this report.

Agenda Pack Page 77

1

4.

Background

4.1.

STPs represent a shift in the way that the NHS in England plans its services.
While the Health and Social Care Act 2012 sought to strengthen the role of
competition within the health system, NHS organisations are now being told to
collaborate rather than compete to respond to the challenges facing their local
services. This new approach is being called ‘place-based planning’.

4.2.

This shift reflects a growing consensus within the NHS that more integrated
models of care are required to meet the changing needs of the population. In
practice, this means different parts of the NHS and social care system working
together to provide more co-ordinated services to patients – for example, by
GPs working more closely with hospital specialists, district nurses and social
workers to improve care for people with long-term conditions.

4.3.

It also recognises that financial problems in different parts of the NHS can’t be
addressed in isolation. Instead, providers and commissioners are being asked
to come together to manage the collective resources available for NHS
services for their local population. In some cases this may lead to ‘system
control totals’ – in other words, financial targets – being applied to local areas
by NHS England and NHS Improvement.

4.4.

In Hertfordshire and West Essex, we are planning to have one Integrated Care
System (a partnership which will be responsible for financial planning,
assurance and quality at a system level) and three geographical Integrated
Care Partnerships, which mirror the geographies of the three current Clinical
Commissioning Groups. There will also be an alliance of providers delivering
specialist mental health and learning disabilities services to a smaller cohort of
people in Hertfordshire.

4.5.

In addition, GP practices have been asked to consolidate into ‘Primary Care
Networks’ and share resources within that network to take the pressure off
general practice and development new ways of working. This will include
sharing a clinical pharmacist, a community navigator and a clinical director.

4.6.

The Integrated Care System will have ‘Population Health Management’ at its
heart. This means we will use live data on the health of our population to
target resources at areas of highest need to reduce health inequalities or
effect health improvement. This could happen at a Primary Care Network level
where an area is an outlier, at a partnership level or even an ICS level.

4.7.

We will also collaborate as partners on a number of enabling work
programmes – including IT and digital, workforce and estates to pool our
resources and get the most from our assets.

4.8.

A number of clinical workstreams have also been identified as key priorities for
our area – where we can change our patient pathways to improve health and
save money. Our key priorities are:
 Children and Maternity
 Frailty and complex needs
 Planned care

4.9.

We have identified other clinical priorities where change is also required and

Agenda Pack Page 78

2

this work will be undertaken at a more local level by NHS Trusts and
commissioners:
 Mental health (including children)
 Cancer
 Urgent Care
 Primary Care
4.10. Our three clinical commissioning groups have decided to appoint one Joint
Accountable Officer (AO) to lead their organisations and that person will also
lead the Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System. Work is also
now underway to produce a proposal for a joint management team to sit
beneath the Joint AO with a timeline to expedite this new management
structure.
4.11. Long Term Plan Submission: Each one of the 44 ICS / STPs in the country
has been asked to put together a detailed response to the NHS Long Term
Plan, published in April 2019. This plan makes a number of national
commitments and provides a five-year financial settlement for the NHS, which
has to be translated into five years of finance, clinical activity and NHS staffing
targets for each STP which add up.
4.12. Hertfordshire and West Essex submitted a final draft of their response in midNovember and have received feedback that this has been approved. The
executive summary can be found at Appendix A and the remainder of the 200page submission will be published on the STP website including high level
plans for each Integrated Care Partnership.
4.13. Harnessing wider partnerships are equally as important to improving health
and social care services themselves. The STP has begun a number of
partnership meetings to engage local partners in the health improvement
agenda:
 A new ‘Community Reference Group’ to engage patients, carers and
the community sector in health improvement work, to build on the work
by local Healthwatch and patient participation groups.
 Integrated Care Partnerships are engaging east and west and within
localities on local agendas and improve cross-organisational working
 The STP has engaged with voluntary and community sector CEOs on
how the public sector should engage with them as key partners
 Engagement with District Council Health Improvement Partnerships (or
equivalent) in what role they can play.
4.14. A short prompt document has been put together in partnership with two District
Councils to provoke discussion on the shared agenda between the NHS
locally and districts and boroughs.
5.

Next Financial Year – 2020/21 – Shadow Integrated Care System

5.1.

Our accelerator status in the current year leads to an expectation that as a
system we will operate as a Shadow ICS during 2020/21. In practice this will
mean:
 Joint financial planning between all NHS and care partners for that year

Agenda Pack Page 79

3

 Joint performance and quality accountability to NHS England for clinical
activity and performance plans
 Joint workforce strategy between organisations
 Greater collaboration between health commissioners and providers
 More joint commissioning arrangements between the NHS and councils
 An Operating Plan for 2020/21 agreed between all organisations.
Background Information
NHS Long Term Plan - https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/

Agenda Pack Page 80

4

APPENDIX B

NHS Accelerator priorities and work programme
Leading Partnerships
Supporting senior leadership to be aligned in supporting areas of ICS improvement. Leadership will use the developed narrative
documents as a framework to inform decision making for themselves and their teams.

System architecture

Agenda Pack Page 81

•

Working with senior leaders to examine subsidiarity across the ICS and ICPs, explore strategic commissioning and test how a
mutual accountability function could be embedded within a refreshed ICS governance framework.

System financial payment mechanisms
•
•

Supporting the HWE STP to develop new payment mechanisms in order to be consistent with financial strategy and clinical
priorities and interlinked with the developing Population Health Management outputs.
.

Population health management
Support the HWE system partnership to deliver against our core priorities through enhancing and improving our understanding
and approach to population health management

5

This page is intentionally left blank

A HEALTHIER FUTURE
THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX
LONG TERM PLAN (2019 – 2024)
NOVEMBER 2019

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 83

1

Foreword from the Chair
“I would like my healthcare to focus on my wellness, rather than my illness.”
– Healthwatch survey, 2019

We all want to look forward to a healthier
future – living happy, independent lives doing
the things we enjoy.
The Hertfordshire and West Essex
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership
(STP) is committed to ensuring that health
and care services, the public sector and
voluntary and community organisations work
hand in hand with our 1.5 million population
to support this ambition.
We’ve analysed a huge amount of information
about our population, our staff and our
organisations to help us plan ahead – so that

we can meet people’s needs in the years to
come.
We’ve worked with service users, patients,
clinicians, social care professionals, carers and
voluntary and community organisations to
identify the principles that our plans to
transform services are based on. These
principles are reflected throughout this
document.
Please read on to find out how, with your
help, we plan to deliver a healthier future for
our area.

The Rt. Hon. Paul Burstow
Chair, Hertfordshire and West Essex STP

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 84

2

Executive summary
1. The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP), published in January 2019, sets the direction for NHS
organisations delivering care to patients across the country over the next 10 years. The plan
identifies five priorities and specifies in detail the action to be taken to meet these:
 Targeted care built around the patient
 Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities
 Boosting recruitment and retention of a highly skilled workforce
 Making better use of data and digital technology
 Maximising value for the taxpayer
2. Commissioners of health and social care services in Hertfordshire and West Essex are required to
respond to the LTP, setting out how they will deliver on national priorities locally. We provide an
overview of our plans in sections 3-6 of this document and further detail can be found in
individual workstream plans in Appendix A.
3. The Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) is
responsible for the health and care of approximately one and a half million people across
Hertfordshire and West Essex. Our population is growing and ageing rapidly: the number of
people aged over 75 in our area is expected to increase by 37% over the next ten years. We are
seeing an increasing number of elderly patients with complex health needs.
4. While most of our population enjoy good health, significant health inequalities exist across the
area and some of our residents are dying from illnesses such as circulatory diseases, cancer and
respiratory diseases at a younger age than we would expect.
5. Health and care services across our STP are commissioned and provided by a large number of
public, private and ’third’ sector organisations and collectively we face significant challenges: our
services can sometimes be fragmented, we are struggling to meet demand, we don’t always
make the best use of technology, and we are finding it difficult to recruit and retain the
workforce we need.
6. Despite this, we know that if we work together effectively, there are huge opportunities to
improve the health and care of our population and to make better use of our resources. Our
leading approach to health and social care collaboration and integration will continue to be a key
driver for improvements and we have ambitious plans to provide more holistic, personalised
care supported by improved digital technology. The government has recently made a significant
financial commitment that will enable us to make much needed improvements to our hospitals.
7. Our plans are built on the priorities we set out in the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP plan
(2016) and further developed through the Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Health and
Care Strategy (2018). The local strategy follows the ‘life course’ approach used by the
Hertfordshire and Essex Health and Wellbeing Boards to tackling health inequalities and people
whose health is frail, which can include adults and children as well as older people. This
document represents the next step in development of the strategy.

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 85

3

8. We have three strategic clinical and care priorities: frailty, maternity and children’s services and
transformation of planned care services. These areas have been selected because:



there is close alignment of national commitments and local priorities
there are significant opportunities to deliver improvements to care and maximise value
based on comparison with peers and best practice.

The emerging science of population health management has played a key role in identifying
opportunities to improve the wellbeing of our residents. A focus on taking a proactive approach
to preventing the onset of avoidable ill-health is central to our plans.
Figure 1: determination of strategic priorities

9. Tackling health inequalities for people of all ages, or ‘life stages’, is a key local ambition. We
know that lifestyle factors can be a contributing factor to frailty, particularly in older people, and
we are seeking to improve outcomes for all through focused work in this area.
10. There are also huge opportunities to make improvements to our maternity and children’s
services: reducing avoidable variability in outcomes and doing everything we can to ensure that
all our children and young people have a strong start in life – setting them on a path to a
healthier future and reducing the impact on the health and care system later in life.
Improvement of maternity and children’s services is a national priority for the NHS.
11. Similarly, planned care is a priority area for improvement nationally and we know by comparing
our performance with others that we could deliver better care and better value.
12. In addition to our priority areas we are working hard on improvements across a huge number of
health and care services in Hertfordshire and West Essex.

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 86

4

13. Our integrated health and care strategy has been developed and refined through meaningful
engagement with local people including patients, clinicians, care professionals and carers – all of
whom have played a key role in shaping local plans that deliver on national priorities and reflect
variations in local need. The strategy is guided fundamentally by the Essex and Hertfordshire
Health and Wellbeing Boards.
14. To support delivery of more holistic health and care provision, we are redesigning the way
services are commissioned and delivered across the STP, developing an Integrated Care System
(ICS), comprising three Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) and 34 Primary Care Networks (PCNs
– clusters of GPs, nurses, and other key health and care professionals typically serving up to
50,000 patients). Our two county councils will play an active role in the development, leadership
strategy and joint commissioning of these partnerships.


The ICS will have over-arching responsibility for ensuring that we get the most for our
population from our £3.2bn health and care budget and 56,000-strong workforce and
will provide clinical and professional leadership for Hertfordshire and West Essex.



Our three ICPs will be responsible for delivering services in Herts Valleys, East and North
of Hertfordshire and West Essex – following strategic direction from the ICS and
responding to local needs.



Primary Care Networks will have a central role to play in the transformation of out of
hospital care delivery on the ground.

15. Population health management is at the heart of our plans to deliver improved outcomes and a
better quality of life for all our residents. Increasingly, a population health management
approach will enable us to provide care that is more targeted and proactive – designed around
the unique needs of our citizens. Collectively, our health and care organisations hold a wealth of
information about our population. Developments in digital technology are enabling us to
combine and analyse this data in new ways to provide invaluable insight and intelligence:
enabling us to take a more proactive approach to preventing ill-health.
16. We have a strong focus on prevention (preventing people from falling into avoidable ill-health).
We know that, locally, children and adults experiencing the biggest health inequalities can
typically live between 10 and 20 years less than the local average life expectancy. This is a
diverse group which includes people with learning disabilities, children in the care of local
authorities, people living in poverty, those who are socially isolated, armed forces veterans and
other groups including travellers and black, Asian and minority ethnic residents. We are:
 improving mental health and wellbeing
 addressing obesity, improving diet and increasing physical activity
 influencing the conditions and behaviours linked to health inequalities
 enabling and supporting people with long-term conditions and disabilities and their
families and carers

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 87

5

17. A new approach to out of hospital care, provided in local communities, will be core to our
transformation. We are investing over £50m to provide more care closer to where people live.
We recognise that General Practice is part of a much wider local care system – providing
effective, person-centred care and support. This should involve close integration with a wide
range of other services including social care, housing, mental health, community nursing, ‘third’
or voluntary sector organisations and hospital services. Primary Care Networks will drive this
transformation.
18. Health and social care partners have worked together with the third sector to develop a
comprehensive frailty programme. This includes the transformation of hospital frailty care, full
integration of community-based care and enabling people to have more control over their own
health and wellbeing. These changes will enable us to provide care that is more proactive and
designed around the patient.
19. We are developing a whole STP urgent care strategy with a strong focus on reducing avoidable
hospital admissions and reducing delays and variation in care through the delivery of systemwide outcome measures. We are also ensuring that we meet national improvement targets and
that we take every opportunity to implement innovative models of care, learning from other
successful health systems.
20. Local urgent and emergency care services will continue to develop to provide an integrated
network of community and hospital-based care, built around the needs of the population. This
will ensure that, for example, those with complex needs receive extra support and alternative
ways to interact with the system. With a flexible approach we can more effectively manage
resources to ensure that we can provide the right care in the right place at the right time. Where
we are able to reduce the pressure on emergency services, we will be able to target resources
elsewhere.
21. We are working hard to enable people to take a more active role in managing their own health
and wellbeing. By adopting a more personalised approach and acknowledging the priorities of
patients, service users, and the friend and family carers that support them, we are improving the
quality and effectiveness of the care we provide. Importantly, we are encouraging more people
to take control and responsibility for their own health and wellbeing and ensuring that services
are more sustainable.
22. We will ensure people who are most “at risk” – due to social vulnerabilities and their clinical
needs – are prioritised for integrated care plans that are person, carer and whole-system owned.
This will include groups of people who have the biggest inequalities in health such as looked
after children, those with serious mental illness and people with learning disabilities, as well as
those with a high frailty score. We are also seeking to develop personalised plans around people
who have had multiple A&E attendances, multiple emergency admissions and those who have
used 999 or 111 multiple times. The following will support this:


We’re prioritising the introduction of personal health budgets for more of our residents
with complex health needs

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 88

6





We’re trialling a patient-held booklet, ‘My Plan’, developed by people with long-term
conditions and their carers, to enable people to capture what’s important to them, their
future wishes and the steps they need to take in a medical emergency
Every PCN will employ a social prescribing ‘link worker’ – focused on ensuring that
people with non-medical issues that are making them ill, like loneliness, physical
inactivity or debt, are supported to build their personal resilience by putting them in
touch with community organisations that can help.

23. We are prioritising transformation of maternity services and children’s health and social care
across Hertfordshire and West Essex. By working together across STP organisations to offer
continuity of care to expectant mothers throughout their pregnancy, birth and post-natal care
and through sharing expertise and information, we have a significant opportunity to improve the
health and wellbeing of some our area’s most vulnerable residents.
24. We are committed to ensuring that the emotional and mental wellbeing of our children and
young people is a priority and a responsibility for all our area’s partner organisations. During
2019 there has been significant work and financial investment in increasing access to timely,
evidence-based mental health interventions to ensure that we are providing support to children
and young people at the earliest opportunity – often in a school or college setting. We are also
improving support for parents and carers, children and young people experiencing crisis or
trauma, and those engaging in sexually harmful behaviours.
25. We are redesigning outpatient services, with three outpatient redesign programmes underway
which include digitally innovative solutions. These will increase patient knowledge, provide
improved access to advice and guidance, and reduce unnecessary face-to-face attendances over
the next five years. Key priorities:








deliver planned care interventions in the most cost-effective setting and use our highly
skilled workforce in a way which delivers the most value to the population and the
system
redesign and standardise planned care services using evidence-based improvement
methodologies and scale up best practice across the system
manage demand by reducing referrals through the application of evidence-based
thresholds and maximise the use of technology to provide convenient alternatives to
face-to-face appointments.
improve productivity by streamlining services
secure sustainable services by systematically identifying services across the STP that can
be improved through greater collaboration and implementation of new models of care

26. We have made good progress by using digital technology to support the delivery of health and
care services, including roll out of the ‘My Care Record’ platform and supporting data-sharing
agreement across the STP and developing and deploying a single information-sharing agreement
across the system. A live information ‘dashboard’ showing real-time pressures acting on our
urgent and emergency care system is improving our ability to anticipate and respond to demand
A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 89

7

and we have defined standard approaches to coding information within clinical systems for
frailty, falls and end of life.
27. There is much more we can do with digital and STP partners have recently committed to invest
in development and delivery of a digital strategy covering the whole of Hertfordshire and West
Essex that will enable us to focus on optimising current systems, and development and
implementation of new systems to support transformation and new ways of working.
28. We are investing £10.4m over the next five years specifically targeted at improvements in early
cancer diagnosis and improving cancer survival rates. All types of cancer are included in our
improvement work, with a particular focus on breast, bladder, lung and colorectal cancer. Our
early stage diagnosis ranges between 50.5% and 54.6% against an England average of 51.9% and
has remained constant between 2012 and 2018.
29. We are investing £30m in mental health, autism and learning disabilities services over the next
five years. Investment will be focused on, amongst other areas, locally delivered care linking
with PCNs, more joined- up provision across the STP and closer integration of mental and
physical healthcare. Improved mental health support will be key to delivery of priority and other
areas – such as maternity and children and frailty – and there are plans in place to support
these.
30. We are targeting big improvements in the treatment of cardiovascular disease, stroke, diabetes
and respiratory disease and have identified a number of opportunities to reduce variation,
improve quality and deliver better value through national programmes such as RightCare
(though the scale of opportunity is variable across the STP). This work includes a move towards
digitally-supported, co-delivered models and further integration of hospital based and
community services to enable more seamless care.
31. Our workforce will be key to supporting change and in particular enabling delivery of more
patient-centred care via PCNs. The workforce programme covers recruitment and retention,
education and development, innovation and technology, leadership and organisational
development and enabling a ‘one workforce’ approach. Key priorities:






making the NHS and social care sector the best place to work
improving the leadership culture
addressing urgent workforce shortages
transforming how we work
a new operating model

32. Modernisation of our hospital estate is critical to delivery of our strategy and will provide us with
an opportunity to improve access and deliver efficiencies across our health and care system. As
noted above, two of our area’s acute hospital trusts were included in a significant national NHS
investment programme announced in September 2019. Our estate strategy also includes
additional and flexible capacity in primary care and the development of integrated
neighbourhood care hubs. We are working on a single Public Estate Plan to be developed and
A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 90

8

agreed by April 2020, building on existing organisational and system estate plans. This will
support hospital transformation enabled by the recent capital commitment from the
Government.
33. Estate transformation and modernisation is a critical enabler of our strategy and provides an
opportunity to improve access and deliver efficiencies across our health and care system. The
government recently committed two of the largest financial investments in the country to our
STP and this money will enable us to make much needed improvements. Our estate strategy also
includes additional and flexible capacity in primary care, development of integrated
neighbourhood care hubs as well as our acute hospital estate redevelopments. We are working
on a single Public Estate Plan to be developed and agreed by April 2020, building on existing
organisational and system estate plans. This will support hospital transformation enabled by the
recent capital commitment from the government.
34. Our STP has co-ordinated its approach to the financial planning element of the NHS Long Term
Plan via the STP Finance Directors’ Group and a task and finish group led by deputy finance
directors, with each of the three CCG area’s economies working together to that our activity and
expenditure are aligned. We will develop and agree a three to five-year public sector
investment and efficiency programme with Local Authorities and Local Enterprise Partnerships
by September 2020.
35. We have agreed a medium-term financial plan which returns the STP to financial balance in the
medium term, through efficiencies identified by RightCare and Model Hospital, system
transformation and assumptions in respect of recurrent STF funding. Oversight of the plan is
provided by the established Finance Directors Group which includes representation from Essex
and Hertfordshire County Councils.
36. We are ambitious for a healthier future for the residents of Hertfordshire and West Essex. Our
partnerships are strong and we have a plan that will deliver our ambitions.

A HEALTHIER FUTURE – THE HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX LONG TERM PLAN (2019-2024)

Agenda Pack Page 91

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

6
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 at 10.00AM
BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE Q3 2019/2020
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services
Author: Edward Knowles, Assistant Director, Integrated Health
Sarah Rayner, Project Officer, Integrated Health
Tel: 07812 324788
1.

Purpose of report

1.1 To provide an overview of 2019-20 Better Care Fund performance in
Hertfordshire and an update on performance during Q3 of 2019-20.
2.

Background

2.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced by the Government in June 2013,
and a local plan agreed in Hertfordshire between Hertfordshire County Council
(HCC), East & North Clinical Commissioning Group (EHNCCG), Herts Valleys
Clinical Commissioning Group (HVCCG) and Cambridgeshire & Peterborough
Clinical Commissioning Group (CPCCG) in April 2014. The national policy
requires the establishment of a single pooled budget (the BCF) to enable
delivery of the local BCF plan to integrate health and social care services.
2.2 Hertfordshire’s latest Better Care Fund Plan outlines health and social care
integration plans for 2019-20. In line with the NHS Long Term Plan’s ambition
that ‘people will get more control over their own health and more personalised
care when they need it’, Hertfordshire’s BCF plan for 2019/20 maintains its focus
on the on the seven ‘I ‘statements for person-centred co-ordinated care (Social
Care Institute for Excellence 2017), which place the experience of the service
user at the heart of what we are trying to achieve.
3. Recommendation
3.1 That the Board notes the key points of 2019-20 BCF performance to date.

Agenda Pack Page 93

1

4.

Performance

4.1

Hertfordshire’s BCF is measured by NHSE quarterly against 4 set performance
metrics (see Table 1). Performance against these targets is as below:

Table 1: 2019-20 Performance against NHSE metric targets
Q1
Performance

Q2
Performance

Q3
Performance

End of
Year
2018/19

Target
for
2019/20

1. Non-elective
admissions

3,256

(Rate based on
Each Quarters
target)

Metric

End of
Year
2018/19

Target
for
2019/20

Q1
Performance

Q2
Performance

Q3
Performance

555

515

567.9

554.6

533.7

83.7%

86%

84.6%

84.4%

84.1%

Metric

2. Admissions
to residential
and nursing
care
3. Effectiveness
of reablement
4. Delayed
transfers of
care

11.2

3430

Target
(NELS
Only)

Outturn

Target
(NELS
Only)

Outturn

Target
(NELS
Only)

Outturn

3,303

3,358

3,323

3,534

3,411

3,799

9.6

10.4

11.2

10.8

(87 Average
days per day)

(95 Average
days per day)

(102 Average
days per day)

(98 Average
days per day)

4.2 The target for non-elective admissions has increased per 100,000 population.
Hertfordshire has exceeded the target with a total of 3,799 non-elective
admissions this quarter against the target figure of 3,411.
4.3 The rate of permanent admissions to care homes per 100,000 population has
decreased since Q2 from 554.6 to 533.7 showing an improvement in
performance and is on track to meet the specified target for 2019/20.
4.4 The percentage of discharges to reablement services has remained fairly
consistent at 84.1%, only a slight variation from Quarter 2 and again on track to
meet the specified targets for 2019/20.
4.5 The rate of delayed transfers of care (DToC) measured per 100,000 population
remains challenging. Throughout Quarter 3 a reduction in the average number
of bed days has been identified though showing a marginal improvement from
102 in Quarter 2 down to 98 in Quarter 3. A continued micromanagement
approach has proved effective in the successful support and discharge of adults
out of hospital settings. Social Care and Health services saw an improved flow
through home care services as a result of having multiple discharge pathways
such as the discharge home to assess service. The use of this service to support
the most vulnerable people to have their assessments out of hospital has
continued to reduce the demand on social services form acute settings.

Agenda Pack Page 94

2

5.

Risks

5.1 BCF risks continue to be monitored and reported to the Strategic Partnership
Boards in accordance with BCF reporting structures and risk management
strategy.

Report signed off by
Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report

Iain Macbeath
Iain MacBeath, Beverley Flowers, David
Evans
The Better Care Fund proposals relate to
all 4 Health & Wellbeing Strategy priority
areas

Needs assessment (activity taken)
The Better Care Fund identifies initial priorities for integration based on our understanding of
both need in the area and future demographic challenges, which is why the priorities include:
 Support to frail elderly populations
 Long term conditions
 Dementia
 Prevention

Consultation/public involvement (activity taken or planned)
See National Condition 1 of the BCF Plan for notes on consultation which included joint
agreement between HCC and the CCGs with input from providers and other stakeholders
Also previous BCF Plans, which form the base of current version, were developed in relation to
extensive consultation activity around the BCF process, with patient groups, statutory bodies,
provider organisations and the voluntary and community sector. Individual integration projects
have also often carried out their own consultation and engagement exercises.

Equality and diversity implications
Each project that is delivered as part of the Better Care Fund work is subject to robust equality
impact assessments to ensure the impact on different groups is understood and where
necessary mitigated against. An EQIA was also created for the ‘Joined Up Care Framework’
forming the basis of this year’s BCF Plan and which identified that the BCF actively creates
opportunities to promote equality.

Acronyms or terms used
Initials
In full
ACS
Adult Care Services
BCF
Better Care Fund
CCG
Clinical Commissioning Group
DToC
Delayed transfers of care
HCC
Hertfordshire County Council
HWB
Health & Wellbeing Board
NHSE
NHS England

Agenda Pack Page 95

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
HERTFORDSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD

7

TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 at 10:00AM
UPDATE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING
STRATEGY 2020 - 2023
Report of the Director of Adult Care Services
Author: Ed Knowles, Assistant Director, Health Integration (Herts Valleys)
(Tel: 07812 324788)
1.

Purpose of report

1.1.

To inform the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board of the engagement
activity underway to inform the new Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing
Strategy 2020 – 2023.

2.

Summary

2.1.

The HWB has a statutory duty to produce a Health and Wellbeing Strategy for
its local area. Drawing upon the analysis and insight of the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment, the Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides the strategic
vision for how people’s overall health and wellbeing can be improved.

2.2.

Hertfordshire’s current Health and Wellbeing Strategy set out our ambitions
and key activity associated with health and wellbeing across an individual’s
life-course – Starting Well, Developing Well, Living Well and Ageing Well.

2.3.

To develop the new strategy, we will be reviewing our progress against the
last strategy – assessing where improvements have been made and where
further work remains. We will also be identifying whether there are new priority
areas that have emerged since the last strategy was written.

2.4.

The new strategy will also need to both inform and align with the development
of the Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System. The Strategy
will be the key document through which the specific goals and priorities of
Hertfordshire, can be articulated and defined.

2.5

To this end, our engagement activity is focussing on better understanding the
diversity and variety of health and wellbeing activity that takes place across the
County and the role that local areas, networks and communities can play in
helping to achieve improvements.

2.6

We have written to each District/Borough Health and Wellbeing Partnership (or
equivalent meeting) with an offer of a presentation and workshop. The
presentation, which focuses in the development of the ICS and the new Health
and Wellbeing Strategy is accompanied by up-to-date information and data on
local performance against health and wellbeing outcomes. Workshop

Agenda Pack Page 97

1

sessions then allow us to explore local priorities, the specific assets in each
area that have helped to drive improvements, any local challenges and the role
that group see themselves playing in delivering change in the future.
2.7

At the time of writing, seven of the ten District/Borough Councils have
confirmed an appropriate date. Dacorum, Watford and North Herts District
Council have all responded and we are in the process of arranging a suitable
date.
District/Borough

Broxbourne
Dacorum

Committee
All Councillors meeting
Dacorum Health and
Wellbeing Forum
East Herts Health and
Wellbeing Partnership
Group
Hertsmere Health and
Wellbeing Partnership
Health and Wellbeing
Partnership
St Albans Health and
Wellbeing Partnership
Healthy Stevenage
Partnership
Local Strategic
Partnership
Watford Health and
Wellbeing Forum
Welwyn and Hatfield
Alliance

East Herts
Hertsmere
North Herts
St Albans
Stevenage
Three Rivers
Watford
Welwyn Hatfield

Date of meeting (and
time)
Monday 27 January 2020
Date to be confirmed
Wednesday 15 January
2020
11 February 2020
Date to be confirmed
Tuesday 26 January 2020
13 December 2019
18 March 2020
Date to be confirmed
31st March 2020

2.8

With the support of Hertfordshire HealthWatch and the Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership’s Communications Lead we are exploring further
opportunities for wider stakeholder engagement. This will include working with
partner organisations in the developing Integrated Care Partnerships and their
associated locality groups, our representative and user-led organisations and
the wider public.

3.

Recommendations

3.1.

That the Health and Wellbeing Board note the proposed engagement activity.

Report signed off by
Sponsoring HWB Member/s
Hertfordshire HWB Strategy priorities
supported by this report
Needs assessment
Underway
Consultation/public involvement
In progress

n/a
Iain Macbeath
Starting Well, Developing Well, Living Well and
Ageing Well

Agenda Pack Page 98

2

Equality and diversity implications
Full EIA to be completed as part of the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Acronyms or terms used.
Initials
In full

Agenda Pack Page 99

3

Agenda Pack Page 100

4

